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‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:31 a.m.

15

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

16

Morning, ladies and gentlemen. This is a continuation of the hearing of this Board with respect to the application that was filed by the Independent Electricity System Operator on November 5th with respect to approval of its revenues, fees, requirements and expenditures for fiscal 2005.

17

The Board has issued a Procedural Order on the 18th of March dealing with a settlement conference that was held, approving certain aspects of a settlement conference and setting out certain issues to be heard today. We can we have the appearances, please.

18

APPEARANCES:


19

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Good morning, Mr. Chair. David Brown, counsel to the Independent Electricity System Operator. With me is Mr. John Rattray, who is in‑house counsel to the IESO.

20

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

21

MR. LYLE:
Good morning, Mr. Chair. My name is Mike Lyle. I'm counsel for the Board hearings team, and with me today is Elaine Wong from Board Staff.

22

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

23

MR. WARREN:
Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.

24

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Warren.

25

MR. JANIGAN:
Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

26

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Janigan.

27

MR. RODGER:
Morning. Mark Rodger, counsel to the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario. With me is Ms. Christine Long and Dr. Lawrence Murphy, who is AMPCO's consultant in this proceeding.

28

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

29

MR. MORAN:
Morning, Mr. Chair. Pat Moran for Electricity Distributors Association, and with me is Morris Tucci, also from the Electricity Distributors Association.

30

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Moran.

31

MS. DeMARCO:
Good morning, Mr. Chair. Elisabeth DeMarco with Association of Power Producers of Ontario, APPrO.

32

MR. STEPHENSON:
Good morning, Mr. Chair. My name is Richard Stephenson. I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union, and with me today is Ms. Judy Quick, who is the Power Workers' consultant on this matter.

33

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

34

MR. ADAMS:
Good morning, Mr. Chair. Tom Adams on behalf of Energy Probe.

35

MR. ANDERSON:
Good morning, Mr. Chair. Colin Anderson on behalf of Ontario Power Generation. And I'd also like to register an appearance by our counsel, Mr. Michael Penny, who's currently doing double duty between this proceeding and the one that's going on next door.

36

MR. KAISER:
Is Mr. Penny here now or he's next door?

37

MR. ANDERSON:
Mr. Penny is next door right now.

38

MR. KAISER:
All right, thank you.

39

Anyone else?

40

Mr. Brown, I understand you have something to report with respect to the outstanding matter between you and the OPG.

41

MR. VEGH:
Sorry, sir, I was canvassing the room to see if there was anyone before I stated my appearance. George Vegh for the Board support team. I'm here with Kathy Litt and David Brown, both of Board Staff.

42

And just to let the Panel and the room know, I received a telephone message from Mr. Rob Power on behalf of EMIG, who advised that EMIG may be participating to make final submissions but is unlikely to participate in the evidentiary portion of the hearing.

43

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

44

Mr. Brown, can you speak to the settlement issue.

45

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


46

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Certainly, Mr. Chair.

47

In Procedural Order No. 6, one of the five issues that Board identified for hearing is the IESO performance indicators. As I indicated to you when we were presenting the settlement agreement to the Board, we anticipated that through further discussions with intervenors, we might be able to resolve that issue. And indeed, as a result of discussions with OPG, who were the ones with the primary interest in the particular indicator, a settlement was reached.

48

On March the 24th I wrote to the Board Secretary and included with that letter what has been designated as Exhibit G, tab 8, schedule 1, which is just the one‑page document outlining the settlement agreement on IESO performance metrics. This document was circulated to the other intervenors on March 24th. I indicated to them that an agreement had been reached with OPG, and that I would be bringing this to the attention of the Board this morning and other intervenors could make submissions on it.

49

Perhaps for the Panel's benefit, just to put this particular issue and the settlement in context, in the 2005‑2007 IESO business plan, which is the main part of the prefiled evidence of this hearing, Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, at pages 12 to 13, the prefiled evidence explains the role that corporate performance measures play in the management of the IESO. Essentially, each year the board of directors of the IESO approves a suite of performance indicators and then the performance under each indicator is tracked and measured against certain metrics during the course of the year so the IESO can ascertain whether or not they are performing in accordance with their own management targets.

50

At page 63 of the business plan that has been filed by the IESO, there is set out in some detail one set of the performance indicators that the board ‑‑ that the IESO uses, and that is the market operations performance measures. There are some other pages right around there that outline the others. But if you'll see on page 63 about three lines down, one of the market operations performance measures is something called the "day‑ahead hourly demand forecast," and then you'll see to the right of that the metrics that you apply to that particular performance indicator and the performance standard that the IESO sets for itself for the year.

51

It's against that background that, during the settlement conference, the intervenors indicated that they would like to have an additional performance indicator, one that would measure the ‑‑ that would be in relationship to the three‑hour‑ahead demand forecast and introduce that as a new category and essentially use the same two metrics by which the IESO currently measured the day‑ahead hourly demand forecast.

52

So the discussions between the IMO and, in particular, OPG focussed on the introduction of that new performance indicator.

53

As you'll see from the settlement agreement, Exhibit G, tab 8, schedule 1, there are really two components that have been arrived at in the settlement. The first component and the first bullet is that IESO management agrees to recommend to its board of directors that they adopt a new performance indicator that would measure the three‑hour‑ahead demand forest error using the same metrics as for the day‑ahead hourly demand forecast.

54

Just stopping there, the performance measures are something that are set by the board of directors of the IESO each year so all management can do at this time is make a recommendation that the board of directors adopt them. But we've done that in the past with certain matters that have been settled and that's been found acceptable.

55

Although these same metrics will be applied to calculate the performance under this new indicator, you can see from paragraph 1 that there are some refinements and clarifications that the parties have agreed to as to how precisely the metric will be assessed. So that's the first part of the settlement agreement, to agree to recommend the adoption of a new performance indicator.

56

The second two bullet points are in the nature of reporting. And the IESO has agreed that it would report to one of the its stakeholdering committees, the Regulatory Affairs Standing Committee, prior to discussions in the fall of 2005, what information has flowed from the application of this particular indicator.

57

So there's both the introduction of an indicator and a reporting of information component to the settlement.

58

As I say, the discussions were in large part with OPG, since this was an issue of primary interest to them. Other intervenors were advised on the 24th as to the settlement. The IESO would respectfully submit that the Board adopt the settlement as part of the overall settlement agreement, but I'll leave it to other intervenors, Mr. Chair, to voice any view that they have on this particular settlement.

59

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

60

Mr. Anderson, let's start with you. Any comments?

61

MR. ANDERSON:
No. OPG accepts this settlement agreement as presented by Mr. Brown and we feel it satisfies our needs.

62

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Adams, do you have a comment?

63

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you, Mr. Chair. Energy Probe participated in an earlier round of this agreement. We accept the agreement as it's presented by Mr. Brown.

64

MR. KAISER:
Thank you. Any other parties wish to comment on this?

65

MS. DeMARCO:
Mr. Chair, if the record could reflect that APPrO takes no position on this issue.

66

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Rodger, what's your position?

67

MR. RODGER:
AMPCO takes no position on this, sir.

68

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Warren?

69

MR. WARREN:
It's acceptable to our clients, sir.

70

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Janigan?

71

MR. JANIGAN:
It's acceptable to VECC, Mr. Chairman.

72

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Moran?

73

MR. MORAN:
EDA doesn't take any position.

74

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Stephenson?

75

MR. STEPHENSON:
it's acceptable.

76

MR. KAISER:
Is there any prospect that it wouldn't get approved by the board?

77

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
By the board of directors?

78

MR. KAISER:
Yes.

79

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I think that's a very remote possibility. If I can go back two rate cases, I think it was, the settlement agreement called for management to recommend to the board of directors the adoption of a certain performance standard. For the love of me, I forget what it was, but a similar undertaking was given, and, in the result, the board accepted it. So IESO management stands behind the recommendation to its board of directors to adopt this.

80

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

81

Mr. Brown, the Board is prepared to accept the settlement agreement as you've put it forward. I presume you'll report back when you get Board approval.

82

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, we shall, sir. And on that basis, then, in light of the Board Panel's acceptance of the settlement, the IESO does not propose to call any evidence on that point at this oral hearing.

83

MR. KAISER:
I understand that. Do you have a panel?

84

OPENING STATEMENT BY MR. DAVID M. BROWN:


85

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I do have a panel.

86

Perhaps, before I introduce the panel and ask for them to be sworn, I could just make a brief opening to indicate to you where the IESO is going, in terms of the evidence that it's going to be adducing at the oral hearing.

87

As you're aware, back on November the 5th, the IESO filed its application for its 2005 fees and expenditure and revenue requirements with the Board. Before the IESO submitted that application to the OEB, it had received the approval of the Minister of Energy to file it with the Board, and he indicated that the priorities in the business plan were consistent with government policy.

88

The application was formally amended on January 12th, and then, on February 9th, the IESO filed some updated evidence, particularly financial evidence, with the Board, which further modified its proposed revenue and expenditure requirements.

89

There was the settlement agreement, and the Board accepted the settlement agreement that the IESO and intervenors had agreed upon. So, in terms of what's before the Board today, under section 19 of the Electricity Act, this Board is charged with reviewing the IESO's fees for 2005. That particular issue was settled in the settlement agreement, and that fee will be just slightly under $1 per megawatt hour, the $0.959 per megawatt hour for the fee.

90

So it's really ‑‑ before the Board, today is the issue of expenditure and revenue requirements, which this Board is authorized to review.

91

Just, sort of, to set the context, back on February the 9th, when the IESO filed its updated evidence, it modified its application to request OEB approval of proposed capital expenditures of $20.1 million and revenue requirements of $152.4 million.

92

As a result of the settlement agreement accepted by the Board, the amount of $19.9 million for 2005 capital expenditures was settled, as was the amount of $149.2 million for OM&A, or the revenue requirement.

93

So the amounts that are left to be resolved in this oral hearing are $3.2 million in OM&A, or revenue requirement, and 0.2 million or $200,000 in capital expenditures. Those amounts all relate to the spending plan of the IESO in relation to its market evolution program for 2005.

94

And, at the end of this oral hearing, I will be asking on behalf of the IESO that the Board approve those additional amounts, the 3.2 million for OM&A, and the 200,000 for capital expenditures, so that, at the end of the day, the Board we will be asking to approve a 2005 revenue requirement of $52.4 million and capital expenditures of $20.1 million.

95

In respect of the issues that now remain, that the Board outlined in its Procedural Order No. 6, the IESO will be calling two witness panels at this hearing. The first panel, who is before you, consists of Mr. Gary Sherkey, who is the CFO of the IESO, Mr. Bruce Campbell, who is the vice‑president of corporate and legal affairs of the IESO, and Mr. Derek Cowbourne, who is the vice‑president of market services of the IESO.

96

This panel will address the third and fourth points set out in your Procedural Order No. 6, that is, the IESO stakeholder consultation process and the comparability of the IESO costs, performance and outputs, with the costs, performance and outputs of other system operators. In particular, this panel will describe to the Board the ongoing review process that the IESO is undertaking in respect of its stakeholder consultation.

97

The second panel that the IESO will call will consist of four individuals. Mr. Campbell will constitute part of that panel, as well as Mr. Bill Limbrick, who is the vice‑president in charge of, essentially, information technology for the IESO, Mr. Paul Murphy, who is the chief operating officer of the IESO, and Mr. Len Kula, who has carriage of the day‑ahead market program of the IESO.

98

That panel will speak to two main issues: The market evolution program initiatives, and the issue of a threshold, whether there should be a threshold for market evolution program initiatives. And on that latter point, in the course of their evidence, the second panel will explain to the Board, and the intervenors here, the market evolution program spending threshold proposal that was outlined in my letter to the Board of March the 18th of 2005.

99

The only other final point that I wish to raise, Mr. Chair, by way of an opening, has to do with final argument. I received an inquiry from Board Staff as to whether or not the IESO would be prepared to make its final argument by way of oral submissions. I've confirmed that we are, and so we are ‑‑ once the evidence is finished, we're certainly prepared to proceed with oral argument, and we would ask the indulgence of a little bit of a gap, so we can organize our thoughts for presenting oral argument.

100

There are, however, two other administrative matters that, sort of, remain outstanding, that we would like to get the Board's view on, and I'm sure other people in this room would as well.

101

There had been some discussion with Board Staff last week that we might be sitting half days for some of the days this week. I understand that that was, in large part, driven by the Board's obligation to release electricity distribution ratings. We'd, sort of, like to have some guidance from the Board, if we could, as to whether or not there's still a plan to sit half days for part of this week, or whether we will be setting full days each week ‑‑ each day this week.

102

The second issue, which perhaps we can deal with, sort of, off‑line, will be the schedule of final argument for the intervenors.

103

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Brown, we propose to sit full days today and tomorrow, if that's acceptable to you.

104

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, very much so, sir. Thank you.

105

With that, then, sir, by way of an opening, I propose to call the first panel, so if I could ask that the three panel members be sworn.

106

INDEPENDENT ELECTRICITY SYSTEM OPERATOR ‑ PANEL 1; SHERKEY, CAMPBELL, COWBOURNE:


107

G.SHERKEY; Sworn.

108

B.CAMPBELL; Sworn.

109

D.COWBOURNE; Sworn.

110

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Chair, I provided Board staff with copies of the CVs for each of the panel members. If I could ask that they be provided to you.

111

MR. KAISER:
Should we mark those, Mr. Vegh?

112

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, if we could, please.

113

MR. VEGH:
The exhibit numbers will be I.1.1, CV of Bruce Campbell; Exhibit I.1.2, CV of Derek Cowbourne; Exhibit I.1.3, CV of Gary Sherkey.

114

EXHIBIT NO. I.1.1:
CURRICULUM VITAE OF BRUCE CAMPBELL

115

EXHIBIT NO. I.1.2:
CURRICULUM VITAE OF DEREK COWBOURNE

116

EXHIBIT NO. I.1.3:
CURRICULUM VITAE OF GARY SHERKEY

117

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you very much.

118

EXAMINATION BY MR. DAVID M. BROWN:

119

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Cowbourne, let me start with you. Mr. Cowbourne, I'll start with you. As we can see from your resume, which has been marked as Exhibit I.1.2, you are currently the vice‑president of market services of the IESO?

120

MR. COWBOURNE:
That is correct.

121

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And you've held that position since November of 2000?

122

MR. COWBOURNE:
Yes.

123

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Previously, you were the chief operating officer of the IESO since its formation in 1999?

124

MR. COWBOURNE:
I was.

125

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And we can see from your CV that you've had extensive employment prior to that with Ontario Hydro, in a variety of different positions.

126

MR. COWBOURNE:
That is correct.

127

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And, as part of your employment with Ontario Hydro, you testified periodically before this Board, especially in the context of joint Board hearings.

128

MR. COWBOURNE:
I testified in front of the southwestern Ontario transmission hearings, in front of the joint environmental and municipal board, but I have not appeared in front of the Ontario Energy Board.

129

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I'm sorry, I misread it.

130

In terms of the responsibilities that you currently undertake as the vice‑president of market services, page 2 at the top of your CV, you've set out the three main areas of responsibility: You're responsible for evolving the competitive wholesale market, for providing support and information services to market settlements and ‑‑ market participants, and providing market participants with settlement services.

131

MR. COWBOURNE:
That is correct.

132

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And as part of those, I understand you are the chair of what's known as the Market Advisory Committee?

133

MR. COWBOURNE:
The Market Advisory Council I chair.

134

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Could you explain to the Board briefly what the Market Advisory Council is.

135

MR. COWBOURNE:
The Market Advisory Council is the key forum for all market participants to engage in open dialogue with the IESO with respect to strategic developments in the IESO markets and with respect to other fundamental choices and directions on the evolution of the Ontario electricity market.

136

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
In addition to holding that position, sir, you're also the chair of the IESO's technical panel?

137

MR. COWBOURNE:
Yes.

138

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Could you briefly explain what that is.

139

MR. COWBOURNE:
The technical panel is a stakeholder panel reporting to the IESO board and making recommendations to the board on the development and approval of new market rules or amendments to existing market rules.

140

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, Mr. Cowbourne, as the main part of the IESO's prefiled evidence in this hearing, you filed the 2005 to 2007 IESO business plan. Were you involved in the preparation of that plan?

141

MR. COWBOURNE:
Yes.

142

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And do you adopt the evidence in that plan as your own?

143

MR. COWBOURNE:
Yes.

144

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
You were also involved, I understand, in the preparation of some of the responses to interrogatories in this proceeding.

145

MR. COWBOURNE:
Correct

146

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And indeed, those interrogatories you were involved bear your name as one of the witnesses?

147

MR. COWBOURNE:
That is correct.

148

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And I take it you adopt those answers in those IRs as your own.

149

MR. COWBOURNE:
I do.

150

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Campbell, if I could turn to you, then. Your CV is Exhibit I.1.1. You're currently the vice‑president of corporate and legal affairs of the IESO?

151

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

152

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And have been so since June of 2000?

153

MR. CAMPBELL:
Since November of 2000. When I joined the company I was vice‑president of corporate and legal affairs.

154

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Prior to that, you practiced as a lawyer for 26 years ‑‑

155

MR. CAMPBELL:
Sorry, corporate and regulatory affairs.

156

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Prior to joining the IESO you practiced law for about 26 years here in Toronto.

157

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

158

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And indeed, a lot of your practice was involved in sitting on the opposite side of the table where you now sit in various energy regulatory hearings.

159

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's right. I see lots of familiar faces.

160

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
So you're prepared for the worst.

161

MR. CAMPBELL:
And hoping for the best.

162

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
In terms of your duties now, sir, as the vice‑president of corporate and legal affairs of the IESO, you are responsible in part for the corporate strategy and business development.

163

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

164

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Regulatory affairs.

165

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

166

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Government relations and also legal affairs.

167

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, and communications.

168

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And communications. You were involved, were you not, in the preparation of the 2005 to 2007 business plan which has been filed as part of the prefiled evidence of the IESO.

169

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, I was.

170

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And you adopt that evidence as your own?

171

MR. CAMPBELL:
I do.

172

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Similarly, you were involved in the preparation of some of the interrogatory responses that the IESO has filed?

173

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

174

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And are so identified as the witness on the interrogatory?

175

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

176

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Do you adopt the evidence in those IRs as well?

177

MR. CAMPBELL:
I do.

178

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Sherkey, if I could turn to you, then. Your CV is Exhibit I.1.3. You are currently the vice‑president, chief financial officer and treasurer of the IESO?

179

MR. SHERKEY:
That is correct.

180

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
You joined the organization in November 2002?

181

MR. SHERKEY:
February 2002.

182

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
February 2002.

183

MR. SHERKEY:
Mm‑hm.

184

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And prior to then, as your CV indicates, you had lengthy and extensive experience in various elements of financial management of companies including energy companies, culminating and holding the position of chief financial officers of three companies prior to joining the IESO.

185

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes, that's correct.

186

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
As part of your responsibilities as the CFO of the IESO, your CV indicates that you are involved in business planning and accounting and reporting?

187

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

188

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Treasury and management functions?

189

MR. SHERKEY:
Correct.

190

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Business services, procurement and market funds administration?

191

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

192

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Specifically with respect to the issues that the Panel will hear in this hearing, I understand that you were the person at the IESO who has been responsible for the cost‑comparison initiative involving other ISOs and RTOs; is that correct?

193

MR. SHERKEY:
That is correct.

194

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Chair, I have a few questions by way of examination‑in‑chief that I'd like to ask this panel, if I could with your leave.

195

MR. KAISER:
Go ahead.

196

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Cowbourne, let me start with you and start with the issue of stakeholdering. When the IESO takes about stakeholdering, could you explain what you mean by that term.

197

MR. COWBOURNE:
Stakeholdering is a process for obtaining advice from parties, market participants, individuals, who can be affected by or have an interest in IESO issues. This assists the IESO making effective decisions.

198

Bill 100, in fact, confirms the advisory nature of stakeholdering.

199

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And Bill 100, you're referring there to the section 13.2 of what's now the Electricity Act, that charges the IESO specifically with a process of stakeholdering with various interested parties?

200

MR. COWBOURNE:
That is correct.

201

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Could you explain to the Board Panel, please, when the IESO engages in stakeholdering, that is to say, what issues does the IESO go out and talk about with market participants and stakeholders?

202

MR. COWBOURNE:
We stakeholder all changes to market policies, changes ‑‑ all changes to the market rules and material changes to the market manuals. An example of a non‑material change, for instance, would be the change from the IMO to the IESO in material.

203

We would also stakeholder all matters that the IESO anticipates or that stakeholders identify to us would have an impact on market participants. And we regularly solicit issues for stakeholdering from stakeholders, and indeed, stakeholders are always free to raise issues for stakeholdering at the ‑‑ through the IESO processes, particularly, of course, through the market rules processes and through the Market Advisory Council and its standing committees.

204

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
You had referred previously to your role as chair of the Market Advisory Council. Is that the only stakeholdering forum that the IESO operates or are there other forums?

205

MR. COWBOURNE:
There are many forums that the IESO operates. Interrogatory 9.6 indicates many of the working groups and standing committees that the IESO operates and carries its stakeholdering through. And indeed the technical panel in the market rule change is stakeholdering. And there are other specific topic that may arise, for instance, involving dispatchible load. No formal working group until very recently, but a very major stakeholdering effort over the last couple of years.

206

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
In the IESO's view, what makes for good stakeholdering?

207

MR. COWBOURNE:
Attributes of effective stakeholdering include good, full, timely, two‑way communication between the IESO and stakeholders so the IESO can learn about the stakeholder's issues and indeed the stakeholder's can learn about concerns that the IESO may have.

208

A further attribute of good stakeholdering would include the facilitation of discussions, the building of understanding on all sides and, where possible, the facilitation of consensus amongst the stakeholders. And most importantly, if there is not consensus among the stakeholders, making sure that the decision‑makers, for instance, the IESO board, are fully aware of the views of the stakeholders, the reasons for those stakeholders and why consensus was not reached.

209

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Campbell, if I could turn to you for a few minutes. The IESO is currently undertaking a review of its stakeholdering process. I think back on March 17th or 18th I wrote a letter to the Board filing some information in this regard. Would you please explain how that review has come about.

210

MR. CAMPBELL:
There are three main drivers for the review.

211

The first one is management's own ongoing assessment of the stakeholder process and its desire to respond to the concerns that had been raised by stakeholders who had been engaged in that process.

212

The second driver has to do with the fact that, under the amendments to the Electricity Act, there would no longer be stakeholders on the IESO board, and we wanted to be sure that our stakeholders processes got adjusted to reflect that fact. There will have to be some different mechanisms put in place to bring stakeholder views to that Board.

213

And the third driver was one that you've mentioned already, which is that the legislation itself places a positive obligation, now, on the Board to consider ‑‑ gather and consider stakeholder views on appropriate issues.

214

So what we wanted to do was to provide some options, some alternatives for the Board to look at, some proposals for it to consider, with respect to meeting that new stakeholdering obligation.

215

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Perhaps, before I ask you to, sort of, explain the details of what's going on, we could step back just a bit. And could you indicate what the objectives of this review of the stakeholder process are?

216

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think one of the principal objectives is simply to have an independent assessment done of our current stakeholdering processes, and, in the course of that assessment, take into account the changed circumstances that we face with respect to the independent board and the statutory obligation that I've spoken of already.

217

The second objective was to try and solicit full involvement of stakeholders in that review process and in the redesign of our stakeholdering initiatives, and including, as part of that, the opportunity for those stakeholders not only to have input with the consultant that we are using to lead this effort, but, also, to have some direct input to our board, not simply on the consultant's report but also on management's comments and recommendations, following its consideration of that consultant's report as well.

218

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, on March 17th, the independent consultant ‑‑ and I take it that this is Mr. David Watts that you're referring to?

219

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

220

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
On March 17th, he released a working paper, and that was filed with the Ontario Energy Board, I think, on March the 18th. It can be found at Exhibit G, tab 5, schedule 1. He released a working paper on the stakeholder review. Could you describe to the Board what the next steps are going to be in the stakeholdering process?

221

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes. We've posted that review on the web site, and it is ‑‑ we've laid out some steps there that we propose for it.

222

First of all, any interested party is invited to provide comments, suggestions to Mr. Watts, directly, in connection with the working paper that he ‑‑ that has been posted.

223

We'll also be holding a workshop on April 20th to discuss the working paper and to facilitate any input that stakeholders may wish to make to the ‑‑ to Mr. Watts.

224

The third step will then be to have the ‑‑ have Mr. Watts prepare his report, based on all of the information that he's gathered. We, then, would consider it, as a management team, and what we propose to do is to post ‑‑ just the way the final report will also be posted, we would post comments ‑‑ our comments and recommendations, as we would be forwarding them to our board of directors, with the report prepared by Mr. Watts. And we want to give the opportunity, then, for interested parties to provide comments that will be forwarded to the Board, on both the independent report and on management's comments and recommendations.

225

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, in terms of the consideration of all of those recommendations from the independent consultant, the management and the stakeholders, by the IESO board, do I understand that, at the present time, the Minister has not yet appointed the members of the ‑‑ the independent members of the IESO's board of directors?

226

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yeah. We do not yet have the new, independent board in place, that's correct.

227

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And, in light of that, are you able to give this Board any indication as to when the fruits of this review of the stakeholdering process might be reviewed by the IESO's board of directors?

228

MR. CAMPBELL:
I guess it's pretty much tied to when the board is appointed, and if anyone has any good intelligence on that, I'd be more than pleased to hear it. We are waiting for the board now to be ‑‑ the permanent board to be appointed, so it's difficult to give a precise time estimate as to when this would be considered by the Board.

229

That said, once they are appointed, there will be some time to start bringing that board up to speed, but we think the stakeholdering review will be high on the agenda of matters that they will want to consider, and, certainly, from management's point of view, we view this as a priority for the Board.

230

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
If I could move from the issue of stakeholdering to the issue of cost comparison, Mr. Sherkey, I'll pose a few questions to you.

231

The issue, as you know, of cost comparison has been an issue that has been discussed at several of these cases that the IESO has brought before this Board, including the 2004 fees case. Could you explain what steps the IESO has taken since the 2004 fees case to advance the process of comparing its costs against the costs of other IESOs or RTOs.

232

MR. SHERKEY:
I would be happy to.

233

Since that time, the IESO has taken the lead in the execution of the cost‑comparison initiative amongst the various IESOs in Canada and the United States. An IESO cost‑comparison agreement was signed by ourselves and all of the other IESOs, and that was filed with the OEB.

234

There are four main objectives underpinning the cost‑comparison initiative. What we wanted to do was gain a better understanding of costs and cost‑drivers of the various organizations within the IESO community. We wanted to improve the understanding of each other's ‑‑ each of the respective IESO's operations. And we wanted to understand not only the areas where we are similar, but also where we are different. We need to get behind all of that, and have a concerted effort in order to do so.

235

We wanted, also, to develop meaningful and relevant information that we could share with our stakeholders. We also wanted to work together with the finance folks. It started off with the chief financial officers working together in this regard, and then we brought that to the level of the controllers and working at very detailed levels, in developing those relationships. And we saw this as something of value for this exercise.

236

We also wanted to use the cost‑comparison initiative as a business tool. We see that as something that is very useful for the management of the company, in managing the business affairs of the IESO, and it's useful for the board of directors in its oversight role for the organization.

237

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, you referred in your answer, sir, to the chief financial officers and controllers. Are these the individuals at other IESO's and RTOs?

238

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

239

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And those are the folks that you are primarily engaged in the discussions with, in this cost‑comparison initiative?

240

MR. SHERKEY:
That's correct.

241

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, to date, has any report come out of the cost‑comparison initiative you've been involved in with the other IESOs?

242

MR. SHERKEY:
No, not yet.

243

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Could you, perhaps, explain to the Board Panel here why no report has yet come out.

244

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes. In order to compare the different costs amongst the IESOs, we recognized early on that what we need to do is get common baskets of costs. We were doing exactly that when, in September of 2004, the U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or the FERC, issued its notice of inquiry into developing a uniform system of account for IESOs. We filed details of this FERC initiative with the OEB.

245

The FERC process is progressing. There's a council of IRC. What this is is a council of CEOs of each of our respective organizations, of which the IESO is a member. We have submitted comments ‑‑ two sets of comments to the FERC with respect to the notice of inquiry, that is, particularly, on the uniform system of accounts. We have filed those comments with the OEB as well.

246

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And if I could stop you just there, because two sets of those comments have been filed as part of the evidence ‑‑

247

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

248

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
‑‑ of the IESO in this proceeding. If one were to look at those comments, would one find in them the current thinking of the IESOs as to how these baskets of costs should be formed, against which a comparison could be made?

249

MR. SHERKEY:
Very much so. Absolutely.

250

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Do you have any expectation as to when the FERC down in the States may respond to those comments that have been put in by the council of IESOs?

251

MR. SHERKEY:
Not really. Not anything in particular, no.

252

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And in the, sort of ‑‑ pending the issuance of any sort of next steps, a pronouncement by the FERC, what work in 2005 do you see the IESO being able to perform on this issue of cost comparison?

253

MR. SHERKEY:
Well, we've updated and filed with the OEB cost‑comparison information among various IESOs that we filed in a previous case. And we also did a cost comparison, comparing the IESO with the Alberta system operator. When we did those comparisons ‑‑ I should point out that was done with the publically available information, and I have to point out that this was not done with this cost initiative in mind in terms of getting behind the numbers and standardizing those numbers. So the cost‑comparison information that we filed with the OEB does not, in our opinion, provide a meaningful apples‑to‑apples comparison.

254

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And in terms of the work that you're doing with the council of IESOs on this cost comparison initiative, what work do you foresee being performed by that council pending a sort of next‑step pronouncement by FERC? Do you anticipate any work will be done?

255

MR. SHERKEY:
Oh, yes, absolutely we'll be doing work. But what we think is ‑‑ in terms of the next steps, I think it makes sense for us to await the results of the FERC notice of inquiry.

256

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Why do you say that?

257

MR. SHERKEY:
Well, I think it makes sense to have the FERC sort of agree that this is ‑‑ that the next best steps that they propose strongly that we filed with the FERC is in fact something that makes sense in terms of their use as a commission. When they do that, we will work towards ‑‑ continue to work towards putting in the data of each of our respective organizations. So that report will take on some meaning at that point in time.

258

What we don't want to do is get ahead of the FERC in terms of putting that information together.

259

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
When that report is finally put in place, do you anticipate the IESO will discuss that report with its stakeholders?

260

MR. SHERKEY:
Absolutely. First of all, that report, once it's out, will be published ‑‑ we expect that that report in fact will be published, and at that point in time we will plan to put that into the hands of the stakeholders and discuss it in detail with them.

261

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you, Mr. Sherkey.

262

Mr. Chair, those are my questions and his answers to my examination‑in‑chief. The panel is available for cross‑examination.

263

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Brown.

264

Mr. Warren?

265

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

266

MR. WARREN:
Panel, my name is Robert Warren. My client, the Consumers Council of Canada, represents, broadly speaking, the interests of residential consumers of electricity, and so my questions will be from that perspective. My questions this morning deal only with the issue of stakeholdering.

267

Mr. Cowbourne or Mr. Campbell, can I begin by asking you to turn up Exhibit C, tab 4, which is an interrogatory response to ‑‑ response to interrogatory from OPG. It's interrogatory 4.4.

268

MR. COWBOURNE:
I have that.

269

MR. WARREN:
You were asked a question: "Who does the IESO consider to be its stakeholders?" And you list them there and it does not include either residential consumers or groups representing residential consumers. Let me get to the nub of the first question, which is: Do you consider residential consumers to be a stakeholder of the IESO?

270

MR. COWBOURNE:
If I might respond. The affiliated sector stakeholders includes the small consumers.

271

MR. WARREN:
And by "small consumers," may I assume that that includes residential consumers?

272

MR. COWBOURNE:
Yes, it does indeed.

273

MR. WARREN:
Thank you.

274

MR. COWBOURNE:
With specific representation, for example, on the technical panel.

275

MR. WARREN:
Thank you, sir.

276

My next series of questions, panel, deal with the existing stakeholdering process. I'd like to begin, Mr. Cowbourne, with the technical panel and, in this context, if you would turn up, please, Exhibit C, tab 3. This is an interrogatory from EMIG, interrogatory 3.2. In that context, Mr. Cowbourne, I'd ask you to turn to page 6 of 8 of that response.

277

MR. COWBOURNE:
I have page 6.

278

MR. WARREN:
You describe in the paragraph which begins right at the bottom of page 6, the second sentence: "The duties of the technical panel are to review and propose amendments to the market rules on an ongoing basis and advise the IESO board on specific technical issues as may be referred to the technical panel."

279

At a high level of generality, Mr. Cowbourne, would the design of and ‑‑ the design of new market rules and amendments to existing market rules, would that be the principal responsibility of the IESO?

280

MR. COWBOURNE:
It is a principal responsibility of the IESO.

281

MR. WARREN:
Perhaps a fair way to put the question, Mr. Cowbourne, is that, I take it it's an important responsibility of the IESO; is that right?

282

MR. COWBOURNE:
Yes.

283

MR. WARREN:
If you turn over to page 7 of 8 of that interrogatory response, looking at the first full sentence beginning at the top of the page, it says: "The technical panel shall consist of at least 11 members and shall be comprised of the following individuals."

284

That directive language, the use of the word "shall" twice there, who is it that ‑‑ how were these 11 representative groups arrived at?

285

MR. COWBOURNE:
The composition of the technical panel, as set out here, is in the governance and structured bylaw of the IESO, which is in Exhibit D ‑‑

286

MR. WARREN:
Attachment 8, I believe.

287

MR. COWBOURNE:
Attachment 8. Attachment 7.

288

MR. WARREN:
Sorry, attachment 7. I wanted to go behind that, though, Mr. Cowbourne, to get to the question ‑‑ I appreciate it's embodied in the bylaw. But how were these 11 individuals and representative groups decided on?

289

MR. COWBOURNE:
Could I ask for clarification? Are you talking about the sectors that are represented there or the individuals who represent the sectors?

290

MR. WARREN:
the sectors, I'm sorry.

291

MR. COWBOURNE:
The sectors. As long as I've been involved with it, those have been the sectors. I suspect it goes back as far as the Market Design Committee.

292

MR. COWBOURNE:
And the governance and structure bylaw, Mr. Warren, is approved by the Minister.

293

MR. WARREN:
I wanted to see if I could drill down through this a little further. What, if any, attempt was made to arrive at a membership of the technical panel that reflected a balance of the various interests in the market?

294

MR. COWBOURNE:
I think, regardless of the particular representation from the panel, the decisions of the panel, the discussions of the panel are fully cognizant of the views of all the sectors, and where there is consensus amongst all the sectors, obviously that truly represents the position.

295

Where there are differences of opinion, the opinions, whether it's held by just one individual, one sector in the market, that would be represented fully through to the IESO board with respect to the rule that is being recommended.

296

So I think the balance of representation is overcome, if you like, by the full and transparent disclosure of the views of all the sectors.

297

MR. WARREN:
With apologies, Mr. Cowbourne, you're three or four steps ahead of me. You're answering a question about how you maintain the balance and I was at the baby steps stage trying to deal with the makeup, the consist of this committee. Was any effort made to ensure that there was a balance simply in who is on the committee or what groups were represented on the committee?

298

MR. COWBOURNE:
The representation there, I believe, the board, in recommending the bylaw to the Minister for approval, represented a balance of the sectors in the marketplace.

299

MR. WARREN:
Now, if I can turn from the technical committee ‑‑ technical panel, Mr. Cowbourne, to the Market Advisory Council, is it?

300

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

301

MR. WARREN:
I have every confidence that I will call it the market advisory committee during the course of these questions, but you'll understand we're talking about the same body?

302

MR. COWBOURNE:
Indeed.

303

MR. WARREN:
the Market Advisory Council, you refer to it, and I made a note in your testimony, and please correct me if I didn't get it right, as the principal stakeholdering body within the IESO. Is that a fair representation of what you said?

304

MR. COWBOURNE:
It is. As it were, in the hierarchy of stakeholdering forum, it is the one that is focussed on strategy and it is the one body where all market participants have a seat at the table, if they choose to take it up.

305

MR. WARREN:
If they choose to take it up. Is there a designated makeup makeup of the market advisory committee which would be comparable to the designation of the makeup of a technical panel, which we find at page 7 of 8 of this interrogatory response?

306

MR. COWBOURNE:
No, there is not. In fact, the council is open, as I say, to all market participants to have a seat at the table, if they wish. And we would ‑‑ we also ‑‑ as set out in the consultation handbook, in Exhibit D, we also ensure that we invite the representative groups, such as the associations, including the Consumers' Council.

307

MR. WARREN:
So I take it we can agree, then, Mr. Cowbourne, that, with respect to the market advisory committee, no effort was made in advance to ensure that the people who were on it reflect a balance of the interests in the marketplace; is that fair?

308

MR. COWBOURNE:
The objective was to provide a voice for all market participants. Obviously, we don't control who turns up to particular meetings. But by inviting representative membership from the associations, including, as I say, the small consumers, we hope, and intend, that all voices can be heard at the council.

309

MR. WARREN:
When the council ‑‑ how does the council make a decision, Mr. Cowbourne? What's the mechanism by which they would make a decision?

310

MR. COWBOURNE:
In general, the council is not so much decision‑making, in terms of it providing advice to the IESO. If we had looked for a particular decision, where the council wanted to make sure that its view was, literally, taken to the IESO Board, we have crafted the words at the council, and had agreement from the council on those words.

311

MR. WARREN:
And how is the ‑‑ how is that arrived at, that final wording? Is there a vote, for example, of the members ‑‑ of the people who were ‑‑ sorry, of the folks who show up at a particular market advisory committee meeting?

312

MR. COWBOURNE:
We have ‑‑ on occasion, we have taken straw polls, shall I say. We have done surveys and reported those back, so it's clear to everybody who voted how. And an example would be the advice given to the IESO at the last Market Advisory Council meeting with respect to the stakeholdering, and the input there. We had break‑out sessions, they were fully recorded, everybody saw what they were.

313

We know the numbers of the individuals who voted for the particular views that they wanted to come forward, so it's transparent to all.

314

MR. WARREN:
Mr. Cowbourne, would the Market Advisory Council, in arriving at advice it was going to give to the IESO board, if it felt that the views or the interests of any particular stakeholder group had not been represented, what, if any, measures would you take to ensure that those views were heard?

315

MR. COWBOURNE:
If they were not present or represented at the council, that would be made clear to the IESO staff, who might be making the decision on the particular matter, or to the IESO board.

316

MR. WARREN:
Now, if you ‑‑ if the market advisory ‑‑ I take it that the objective ‑ correct me if I'm wrong ‑ of the Market Advisory Council's deliberations is to try and arrive at a consensus, where one is possible. Is that right?

317

MR. COWBOURNE:
Clearly, yes.

318

MR. WARREN:
And the way you handle ‑‑ the way the Market Advisory Council handles the absence of consensus is to report differences of opinion. Is that fair?

319

MR. COWBOURNE:
Yes.

320

MR. WARREN:
And those would be reported to the IESO board in written form; is that correct?

321

MR. COWBOURNE:
If it is a matter that were to go to the IESO board, it would be in written form, as well as in the verbal reports that would be made.

322

MR. WARREN:
Now, if you would turn, then, to Exhibit C, tab 11, number 3, which is interrogatory response 11.3. This is interrogatory response to one filed by my client, the Consumers Council of Canada.

323

Now, you indicate in that answer ‑ and in addition, Mr. Chairman and Panel, you don't need to turn it up, it also appears in Exhibit C, tab 9; it's interrogatory response 9.6 ‑ that there are a number of other stakeholder bodies or groups that the IESO has. Is that correct?

324

MR. COWBOURNE:
Absolutely.

325

MR. WARREN:
And there are ‑‑ you indicate, for example, in your response, the second sentence, that the IESO has held a number of stakeholder forums with respect to the DAM.

326

Now, is there a fixed structure to these forums, or are they created on an ad hoc ‑‑ sorry, to these stakeholder groups, or are they created on an ad hoc basis in response to specific issues?

327

MR. COWBOURNE:
The stakeholder forums ‑‑ we have the standing committees of the Market Advisory Council. These are set out in the ‑‑ in 9.6.

328

MR. WARREN:
Right.

329

MR. COWBOURNE:
And, if ‑‑ and so they meet regularly. They have standard forms of agenda. The material is published ahead of time. Parties must know the topics that are going to be discussed.

330

If particular issues arise that warrant a specific group to be established for that topic, then a working group would be formed for that one topic. So, in that sense, that would be ad hoc, in that when ‑‑

331

MR. WARREN:
Who decides ‑‑ I'm sorry, Mr. Cowbourne. Who decides that a working group will be formed? Is that a decision of the IESO or a decision of the stakeholders, or a combination of the two?

332

MR. COWBOURNE:
Combination of the two.

333

MR. WARREN:
And can we agree that ‑‑ well, we'll get to that in a minute.

334

Now, on the issue of consensus, or the absence thereof, if a consensus is arrived at on a matter that's being reported to the IESO board, the IESO board ultimately has the freedom to make a decision, regardless of whether there's a consensus. Is that right?

335

MR. COWBOURNE:
Yes, they do.

336

MR. WARREN:
And can you point me to any examples of circumstances where the IESO board has made a decision contrary to the consensus that's been presented to them?

337

MR. COWBOURNE:
I'm not aware of one.

338

MR. WARREN:
Now, when the IESO ‑‑ in circumstances where there is no consensus, and dissenting views are expressed to the board in like fashion, the IESO has the freedom to do what it wants; fair?

339

MR. COWBOURNE:
Correct.

340

MR. WARREN:
Okay. And, in making its decisions in those circumstances, does the IESO board make some kind of formal note of, or recognition of, the dissenting views that are expressed to it?

341

MR. COWBOURNE:
They would certainly be recorded in the minutes.

342

MR. WARREN:
Okay.

343

Now, can I turn, panel, to the proposed stakeholdering process.

344

And I think, Mr. Campbell, this is largely within your purview. And if you would turn up, please, what is now Exhibit G, tab 5, schedule 1. This is the working paper of Singer and Watts, dated March 17th, 2005.

345

MR. CAMPBELL:
I have that.

346

MR. WARREN:
I made a note of your testimony this morning, Mr. Campbell, in which you said that one of the objects of the review was to obtain an independent assessment of the current stakeholdering process. Have I recorded what you said correctly?

347

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, to review that, and to make proposals for how we might adjust that stakeholdering process, or redesign it, going forward. I think that's the principal focus.

348

MR. WARREN:
Now, if you would turn up page 1 of this exhibit. And, in the third full paragraph, it says, and I quote:

349

"The primary purpose of this working paper is to present a set of draft stakeholder engagement principles and frameworks (high‑level descriptions of stakeholder engagement mechanisms and processes) for stakeholder review and comment as draft principles and frameworks were developed, in large part, from feedback provided by stakeholders over the past two years."

350

Now, I don't read that, Mr. Campbell, and you can correct me if I'm wrong, I don't read that as being an independent critical assessment of the existing stakeholder process. Would you agree?

351

MR. CAMPBELL:
No, I don't. I think what has been done is that Mr. Watts has gone through the review of the assessments of the process, as he was asked to do. He has engaged in discussions with various associations before getting to the point of making any recommendations as to how it might move forward, and he ‑‑ and at the February 23rd Market Advisory Council, there was a substantial effort to extract from stakeholders their views on both the current process and what might be done in their judgment to improve that process going forward.

352

So I think, while the paper, the working paper, has definitely focussed on how do we move forward, in the course of making that proposal, Mr. Watts has looked at and gathered the views of stakeholders as to issues that he felt needed to be addressed in moving the process forward.

353

MR. WARREN:
Mr. Campbell, can you and I agree that there is a distinction to be made between a working paper, which consists largely or principally of what amounts of laundry list of people's observations about the strengths and weaknesses of the existing process, on the one hand, and independent critical review of the strengths and weaknesses of the existing process? Would you agree that that's a valid distinction?

354

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think they are two different products, yes.

355

MR. WARREN:
And would you agree that this working paper is the first and not the second?

356

MR. CAMPBELL:
It is intended to ‑‑ let me back up. I think the simple answer is yes, it is intended to put forward proposals that will move our stakeholdering process forward, and certainly what has informed those ‑‑ those proposals, the alternatives that Mr. Watts has outlined, has been the experience as he's gathered it with our current stakeholdering process.

357

But this report does not sit down, I think the way you're contemplating, and go through and then set out that analysis, per se.

358

MR. WARREN:
Was any consideration given by the IESO to engaging that or seeking product number 2, which is the independent critical assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of the existing process, taking into consideration what people may say about it, but arriving at an independent conclusion? Was any consideration given to commissioning that kind of analysis?

359

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think that was not what we asked Mr. Watts to do. We asked him to inform himself on that matter so as to exercise his judgment on how best to move forward. But we did not ask him to prepare a specific report on that. Frankly, in this area, as in many others, our stakeholders are not reluctant to tell us how they think the process might be improved, what they see as their concerns as being, and they've been quite vocal about their concerns and quite willing to discuss that with us.

360

So frankly, I think our view was that, understanding that, we wanted proposals for moving forward. We had a pretty good idea of what the concerns were.

361

MR. WARREN:
I take it that the answer to my question is no, no consideration was given asking him to do an independent critical report?

362

MR. CAMPBELL:
I guess what I'd call not with an explanation.

363

MR. WARREN:
The sort of thing you used to object to when you were on the other side of the table.

364

MR. CAMPBELL:
I can't believe I ever did that.

365

MR. WARREN:
Sorry. That was a free shot. Thanks for that, Mr. Campbell. Could I then ask you to turn to the body of this report, and what I wanted to get from you were some responses from IESO management to a number of the engagement principles that Mr. Watts has set out. And in this context, could you turn up page 3 of his working paper.

366

MR. CAMPBELL:
I have that.

367

MR. WARREN:
Under the heading "Decision‑Making," it says in item number 3, and I quote: "The IESO will provide varying levels of stakeholder engagement for its decisions (feedback, consultation or consensus) based on the significance of the issue and its impact on stakeholders."

368

Now, does the IESO accept that principle?

369

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think at this point the IESO is trying very hard not to endorse or not endorse any of these principles itself at this point. We will come to that at the end of the ‑‑ at the end of the discussion, but what we are trying to do is listen very carefully to what Mr. Watts puts forward as principles that he thinks are appropriate in the circumstances and we're trying very carefully to listen to what interested parties have to say about those working principles.

370

One of the things we'd been criticized for in the past is appearing to kind of take a view on something before the stakeholder discussions have fully concluded. And people have been concerned that we've perhaps been a little intransigent in those views. So we're making a real effort here. We're not going to take a management position until this process is complete.

371

MR. WARREN:
Correct me if I'm wrong about this, Mr. Campbell, but I'd understood that the process, going forward, for this review was that the stakeholders were going to comment on this working paper and the IESO was going to comment on the working paper and then Mr. Watts was going to take everybody's comments and then was going to produce a final paper. Have I misunderstood that process?

372

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think the one step you added in that we don't propose to do is to, at this point, take a management position on the working paper. What we want to do is listen carefully before we take a management position on these, is to listen very carefully to the comments that Mr. Watts gets back.

373

MR. WARREN:
Well, allowing for the possibility, if I could put it this way, Mr. Campbell, that you may be persuaded by the comments from various stakeholders about the correctness or otherwise of these principles, but just looking at it at first blush and allowing for the possibility that, as I say, you may be persuaded, would the IESO accept principle number 3, that there ought to be varying levels of stakeholders' engagement?

374

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mr. Warren, I'm not going to make any commitment on any of these principles on behalf of IESO management at this time. Does this have a certain common‑sense appeal to it? Yes. Have we taken any position on it? No, and we are not going to.

375

MR. WARREN:
Well, if you'll allow me to continue to be somewhat mettlesome on this issue, Mr. Campbell, can I ask you to turn up ‑‑ then go down to number 7. It says:

376

"In furtherance of its decision‑making responsibilities under the Electricity Act, the IESO will strive to achieve an equitable balance among stakeholder interests, recognizing the diversity of stakeholder resources and the varying degree of impact upon stakeholders."

377

Now, let's step aside ‑‑ if I could provide this zone of comfort for you, Mr. Campbell. Let's step aside from the working paper and what's in here and what the process is going to be. Would the IESO not agree that maintaining an equitable balance between stakeholder interests is a principle that it ought to support?

378

MR. CAMPBELL:
It's a principle that Mr. Watts has recommended to us. It has a common‑sense appeal to it but the IESO management is not taking a position on any of these matters until this process is at ‑‑ has ripened. We are very cognizant of the concerns that people had raised about this kind of thing in the past.

379

MR. WARREN:
If I turn, then, down to participation process: "The IESO stakeholder engagement process will be inclusive, providing the opportunity for all stakeholders with a material interest in an issue to participate." Does it have a common‑sense ‑‑

380

MR. CAMPBELL:
That principle is one that our existing stakeholder manual already reflects, and to the extent that we adopted it previously, I haven't heard anything from stakeholders to date that would suggest we should change our view on it. But I will give you my same qualification, Mr. Warren: We are trying to keep an open mind on all of this.

381

MR. WARREN:
Number 12:

382

"The IESO will actively encourage all stakeholder sectors with a material interest in a decision to participate in the process."

383

Now, this is the first point, I think ‑ I may be wrong ‑ but the first point in which Mr. Watt introduces this notion of a material interest in a decision, but it appears at various points elsewhere in this.

384

Do you know what Mr. Watts means by "a material interest in a decision"?

385

MR. CAMPBELL:
I don't recall having discussed the point with him particularly. I think what we're aiming at here is that ‑‑ or what Mr. Watt is aiming at here is that, just reading the principle, is that this put ‑‑ this would put a positive obligation on us to actively encourage participation. And I think my reading of this would be, simply, that at some level, the size of the population which we're going to go out and encourage must have some limits to it. And he here has suggested that wording that would put some limits on the size of the population that we're going to actively encourage. I read it in that sense.

386

MR. WARREN:
Stepping aside from what Mr. Watt has put in his working paper, does the IESO have a position on what is a material interest in its decisions that would allow a stakeholder to participate?

387

MR. CAMPBELL:
Again, Mr. Warren, I don't think we have a position on it. But I can tell you that one of the things we would look to is that, if a stakeholder itself felt that ‑‑ stakeholder group itself felt that the interest was material, that would be a pretty good ‑‑ that would be a pretty good indication, from our point of view. To some extent, we would anticipate this would be self‑identifying.

388

MR. WARREN:
What I want to get to, if I can, Mr. Campbell, is the question of the exclusion, a decision to exclude a stakeholder. Who would ultimately make the decision of whether or not a stakeholder had a material interest that would allow that stakeholder to participate in the stakeholdering process?

389

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think certainly our experience to date has been that there ‑‑ our forums have been quite open, so they haven't ‑‑ they haven't tried to ‑‑ they haven't tried to be ‑‑ they haven't tried to exclude people. And, again, I think ‑‑ I read this ‑‑ if you look, together with some of the other principles, for instance, principle 10, I look to this as being consistent with an open process; that if a stakeholder came forward and wanted to participate on the basis that they felt they had a material interest, there would be the opportunity for that participation.

390

MR. WARREN:
Mr. Campbell, finally, on this report on a specific issue, can I ask you to turn up page 6 of the working paper.

391

MR. CAMPBELL:
I have that.

392

MR. WARREN:
On page 6, Mr. Watt is talking about a body which he has called "the advisory committee to the board and executive," ACBE. This, I take it, is a notional creature that he's suggested.

393

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

394

MR. WARREN:
Okay. Now, looking down at the sixth or seventh bullet item, it says:

395

"Appropriate remuneration would be provided to ACBE members requiring such support in recognition of resource costs associated with preparing for and participating in meetings."

396

Stepping aside ‑‑ given your sensitivity to taking a position on what Mr. Watt is saying, stepping aside from what Mr. Watt is saying, does the IESO support the view that it should provide funding support to allow important stakeholder groups to participate in its processes?

397

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think the characteristic that Mr. Watt is referring to in that bullet is one that we already do with respect to the technical panel ‑‑

398

MR. WARREN:
Right.

399

MR. CAMPBELL:
‑‑ and it seems to me, again, speaking only for myself and, sort of, from a common‑sense point of view, that, given the kind of responsibilities that this committee would take on, if Mr. Watt's working paper turned into an actual ‑‑ an actual committee, it would seem to me that it would make sense to treat it consistently with the technical ‑‑ the way the technical panel is treated.

400

But I emphasize, again, it's not ‑‑

401

MR. WARREN:
You don't need to, Mr. Campbell. I ‑‑

402

MR. CAMPBELL:
I do ‑‑

403

MR. WARREN:
‑‑ take your point.

404

MR. CAMPBELL:
‑‑ I do. It is not an IESO position, but I think, by analogy, it would make some sense.

405

MR. WARREN:
My final question on this, Mr. Campbell, is: You and I have discussed the process by which the views of various stakeholders will be elicited on what Mr. Watt has said, and absent from the list was the Ontario Energy Board. Would the IESO be looking to input from this Panel on what Mr. Watt has suggested?

406

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, and the April 20th meeting is one that's under the MAC umbrella. And, as such, the OEB is welcome to participate, and we'd welcome their views.

407

MR. WARREN:
Finally, panel, I wonder if ‑‑ I'm going to put to you a number of ‑‑ four principles, to see if you would agree that these principles should inform the stakeholdering process.

408

Can we agree, panel, that one of the principles is that the interests of residential consumers should be represented?

409

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think that principle is one that should be considered in the ongoing development of this process, yes.

410

MR. WARREN:
You said "should be considered." I asked you whether or not you accepted it.

411

MR. CAMPBELL:
I'm not prepared to accept any principle as an IESO management position at this point in time. You've seen residential or small consumer representation on the technical panel. I will go so far as to say that, again, it seems ‑‑ it would seem reasonable to look at achieving a right kind ‑‑ an appropriate balance across those kinds of sectors.

412

But the ‑‑ there's still a fair amount of work to get to an actual recommendation here. And, as I say, IESO management is not taking a position at this point in time.

413

MR. WARREN:
Do you accept the principle that a balance should be maintained among the interests represented in the stakeholdering process?

414

MR. CAMPBELL:
I give you the same answer. I think that's an appropriate kind of comment to take into account as we put this together.

415

MR. WARREN:
Regardless of what Mr. Watt has set out in his working paper, would the IESO ‑‑ would the ‑‑ does the IESO accept that this Panel should, in its decision, set out the principles which it believes should govern the stakeholdering process?

416

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think, again, we would welcome the views of this Panel. We welcome the views of OEB Staff. So, you know, to the extent that this Panel, in reviewing this material, had views that it wanted to express, those should be taken into account, as well. .

417

At the end of the day, all of this has to be ‑‑ go to the IESO board, which has a particular statutory responsibility.

418

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Campbell, excuse me a minute. How would the Board, this Panel, express an opinion on any of this, if we can't even find out what your views are?

419

MR. CAMPBELL:
I don't think your having views depends on IESO management's having views on any particular issue. We have published the views of stakeholders that were gathered at the February 23rd MAC meeting. That's in the material before you. And the Board itself has experience in stakeholdering. And if there were items about the working paper that either you wanted to reinforce or caused you some concern, we would welcome those views. I don't think that, in my view, depends on us coming to a conclusion on all these matters at this time. We are in the middle of a process here.

420

MR. KAISER:
But you'd agree it would be difficult for the Board to make a judgment if we don't know what the position of your organization is.

421

MR. CAMPBELL:
Well, I think it's difficult for the Board to make a judgment overall as to advice to the IESO board until it sees all of the input in this. I don't put ourselves in any ‑‑ my point is I don't put ourselves in any special category here.

422

MR. KAISER:
Right now you're in no category.

423

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

424

MR. KAISER:
You're not prepared to express an opinion. I don't know, to just follow up on what Mr. Warren is saying, what are you expecting this Board is going to do with respect to this issue in this proceeding, in light of your position?

425

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think this was not an issue that we raised as one that needed ‑‑ needed to be put before the Panel at this time. We are responding to an Issues List. We have a parallel process, if you will, in place. This issue was accepted as an issue in these proceedings. I think our position is we would welcome whatever views the Panel expressed, but we're in the middle of a process that is aimed at ‑‑ that is underway, and it's a separate process and it ‑‑ well, again, I think the views would be welcome.

426

It's not a matter that, at least from where I sit, that can be solely decided in this proceeding. It simply can't be.

427

MR. KAISER:
Right. And are you really saying it would be premature for the Board to make any judgment on this issue at this time?

428

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think in terms of making a ruling or direction, yes.

429

MR. KAISER:
I just wanted to get your position. I'm sorry to interrupt you.

430

MR. WARREN:
Not at all, sir. Let me just get to the nub of it, Mr. Campbell. If the Board in its decision, regardless of your silence on the IESO's position on these issues, if the Board were to say, you know, a condition of our approval of the budget amounts is that the IESO accept the following principles of stakeholdering, would the IESO consider itself bound by the Board's decision? Or to put the matter another way: Is the Ontario Energy Board just one more stakeholder like myself or Mr. Rodger's client?

431

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Perhaps, Mr. Chair, in terms of who can do what, then, those are legal issues and we can deal with it in final argument. Mr. Campbell is here as a fact witness and he can give you management's view as to process, who can participate in the process, and what views are welcome in the process. But I think Mr. Warren is getting into more ‑‑

432

MR. KAISER:
I think you're right, Mr. Brown. I think this is. But, Mr. Brown, you understand the Board's concern. This is an issue; it's on the issue's list. Your client's one of the most important participants and we don't have your client's view on some of these proposed changes.

433

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Well, I appreciate that, but I think Mr. Campbell and, to a degree, Mr. Cowbourne, in their evidence, have sort of described to the Board, the ‑ if I can use this phrase ‑ "damned if you do, dammed if you don't" position that the IESO finds itself in.

434

Mr. Campbell, in his evidence, has said that market participants on numerous occasions have criticized the IESO for prematurely taking a view, somehow preempting the process. And I think what Mr. Campbell has said in his evidence is that, in terms of the stakeholder review process, IESO management doesn't want to be perceived as to having formed any view before the process comes to an end. And that's sort of the "damned if you do, damned if you don't" kind of conundrum that the management finds itself in. That's what I understand the thrust of Mr. Campbell's evidence to be, that this seems to be a very open and transparent process with no fixed end point. And IESO management wants to adhere to that spirit of the process.

435

MR. WARREN:
Mr. Kaiser, may I just respond to that point. I made it clear in my questions to Mr. Campbell that I understood that the views expressed by this panel on the principles that are articulated or set out in the Watts report might be subject to change, that they may see that wiser heads prevail on the basis of the input that might come from the stakeholders.

436

But surely it is not impossible for the IESO, clearly a sophisticated panel like this, to say, Yes, we accept this principle, subject to comments that we may be persuaded that they're wrong. Surely it is within the capacity of this very sophisticated panel to say, We think that what Watts is saying makes sense. Not this, you know, at some high level that it's sort of common‑sensical. And that's what I'm asking the panel to do so we have some working position from this.

437

I would ask the Board to direct this panel to respond to my questions with the caveat that they may be persuaded otherwise.

438

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
With respect, Mr. Chair, I think that's an unfair request by my friend. I think the members of the panel, Mr. Cowbourne and Mr. Campbell, have clearly indicated why they're answering the questions the way that they are. Now, in final argument, my friend can make whatever he wants of this particular position, but I think IESO management is entitled, as part of the fact evidence in hearing, to state what their approach to this stakeholder review position is. And you've heard it quite clear from Mr. Campbell.

439

For my friend to be asking the Board to direct IESO management essentially to be taking a view of the matter now essentially preempts the stakeholder review process. Mr. Watts' paper is not a report, as Mr. Warren describes, it is a working paper, and there is much to be worked on with stakeholder input. So I think it's an unfair request to have the management form a view on the stand without having heard the input from the whole process.

440

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Brown, would this be a convenient time to take the morning break?

441

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Certainly, sir.

442

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:58 a.m.

443

‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:35 a.m.

444

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

445

Mr. Brown, when we broke for the break, Mr. Warren, as I understood it, was asking that the Board direct your client's witnesses to answer certain questions.

446

Mr. Warren, could you just restate what your application was?

447

MR. WARREN:
What I wanted, Mr. Chairman, was the Board to direct the panel to answer questions that I had posed to them about the principles that were articulated in the working paper: What was the IESO's preliminary position on principles set out in Exhibit G, tab 5, schedule 1?

448

MR. KAISER:
Now, Mr. Campbell says that the management committee, or whatever it's called, hasn't turned its mind to this, so they don't have a position; is that correct?

449

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct. The management team itself has not met and reviewed the principles.

450

MR. KAISER:
So he can't speak on behalf of the management committee. So what is it you want him to do? If they have not made a decision on this matter, which I understand his evidence to be, what is it you want him to do?

451

MR. WARREN:
Perhaps I could go at it this way, Mr. Chairman: If I could ask ‑‑ before you make a decision on it, ask a couple of other ‑‑

452

MR. KAISER:
No, we're going to canvass everyone. Take your time.

453

MR. WARREN:
‑‑ collateral questions.

454

Mr. Campbell, can you tell me this ‑‑ in this context, it may be helpful if you turn up Exhibit G, tab 5, schedule 1. Looking at page 2 ‑‑

455

MR. CAMPBELL:
Okay, which page, I'm sorry?

456

MR. WARREN:
Page 2.

457

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mm‑hm.

458

MR. WARREN:
On page 2, Mr. Watts sets out the phases of the stakeholder engagement review process.

459

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mm‑hm.

460

MR. WARREN:
And in phase 1, under the heading "Scoping of Key Stakeholder Engagement Considerations," there are five bullet items, and the last of the bullet items reads, and I quote:

461

"Identifying and reviewing input received from IESO staff working on the experience in stakeholder engagement process, as previously undertaken by the IMO."

462

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mm‑hm.

463

MR. WARREN:
Do I understand from that that the IESO had input into the what Mr. Watts sets out as the principles, in other words, what Mr. Watt sets out in his working paper?

464

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think what that reference is to is the fact that Mr. Watts sat down with some of the individuals at the IESO who had actually conducted stakeholdering and canvassed their experience. I think that's what that point is referring to.

465

MR. WARREN:
Okay. Well, more broadly than that, Mr. Campbell, as I read the phase 1 process, set out on page 2, what Mr. Watt did is he obtained input from stakeholders as to what the appropriate principles ought to be. Did he obtain input from the IESO as to what it believes the appropriate principles should be for the stakeholdering process?

466

MR. CAMPBELL:
We did not ‑‑ we, as the IESO ‑‑ or Mr. Cowbourne or I, who are, sort of, leading this little project, we did not propose principles to Mr. Watts at all. We saw the principles that he was proposing and we had discussions to clarify what he was getting at, but we did not propose principles ourselves.

467

MR. WARREN:
And do I take it that, at this point, you and Mr. Cowbourne, as the lead representatives of IESO on this, have no position which you are prepared to express on the principles set out in Mr. Watts' paper?

468

MR. CAMPBELL:
Certainly not, as representing the views of the IESO.

469

MR. WARREN:
Do you have views, individual, personal views?

470

MR. CAMPBELL:
Of course, we've thought about the principles. Yes, we have.

471

MR. WARREN:
But those wouldn't be binding on the IESO? They'd simply be ‑‑

472

MR. KAISER:
They'd be personal views.

473

MR. WARREN:
‑‑ they'd be personal views only?

474

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

475

MR. WARREN:
Okay.

476

Mr. Chairman, I think returning ‑‑ I'm not sure there's anything I can get. I mean, you can ‑‑ I could ask the Board to direct them, but they haven't formed an opinion on it. They have nothing to express, so ‑‑

477

MR. KAISER:
I think that's the case, Mr. Warren.

478

MR. WARREN:
Those are my questions in cross‑examination, sir.

479

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, sir.

480

Mr. Moran, any questions?

481

MR. MORAN:
Just a couple of check‑off questions, Mr. Chair.

482

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MORAN:

483

MR. MORAN:
Mr. Campbell, with respect to the March 17th paper, did Mr. Watts produce a draft version of that paper to you before it was released on March 17th?

484

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, he did.

485

MR. MORAN:
And you had a chance to review it with him?

486

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, in the normal course of a consulting engagement of this type, yes.

487

MR. MORAN:
Mr. Cowbourne, did you have a chance to review it with him as well?

488

MR. COWBOURNE:
I did not. I was out of the country on business at the time.

489

MR. MORAN:
Okay. Did anyone else at the IESO review it with Mr. Watts?

490

MR. CAMPBELL:
I ‑‑ the person who was managing the project, Terry Young, who reports to me, and Mr. Goulding.

491

MR. MORAN:
And were any changes made to the draft, leading up to the final version that was released in March 17th, as a result of those meetings with you?

492

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, there were.

493

MR. MORAN:
Could you tell us what those were?

494

MR. CAMPBELL:
Primarily ones of ‑‑ there were three matters I should address. One is just matters of clarification, did the ‑‑ understanding what the idea was that was being conveyed, and just suggesting clarification.

495

The second matter was that I asked that the report be made clear that it was IESO management's intention that, once the report had been finalized and stakeholder comments received on it, that ‑‑ I'm sorry, let me back up. Once the report had been finalized, after stakeholder comments had been received on the working draft, and IESO management had considered it and made its comments and recommendations, that there would be an opportunity provided to stakeholders to respond to the IESO comments and recommendations, and that that would be ‑‑ that information would be transferred to the board, or provided to the board. And I asked that that ‑‑ in particular that that be added.

496

The third item was that the report had a short section on the technical panel which, given that the technical panel is established under the existing governance and structural bylaw, was felt to, kind of, not be within, sort of, the scope and focus of what the working paper was intended to do, which was the promote this broad discussion of stakeholdering. So that you will see that, in the final version, the technical panel, there's a short section on the technical panel, and it was removed.

497

I emphasize that these matters were discussed with Mr. Watts, but it was Mr. Watts' decision as to what would be in the report and not.

498

MR. MORAN:
And then, just so I understand the process as it unfolds forward, stakeholders will have an opportunity to comment on the working paper?

499

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

500

MR. MORAN:
But the IESO folks won't be making any comments during that stage, or will there be some staff input at the same time as ‑‑

501

MR. CAMPBELL:
It's not proposed that the IESO would make comments on the working paper. They would go to Mr. Watts, Mr. Watts will finalize that document, and then the IESO will provide comments on the final report and make any recommendations that it feels is appropriate to the board. That will be published and also open to stakeholder comment. That will be transmitted to the board.

502

MR. MORAN:
All right. So Mr. Watts is going to interact with stakeholders a bit more, and then he's going to produce a final report, which will then be commented on by ‑‑ when you say "IESO," I assume you mean IESO management?

503

MR. CAMPBELL:
IESO management. Yes, it will be advice to the IESO board, and IESO management will provide its views as well as stakeholders' views.

504

MR. MORAN:
Is there an opportunity for the stakeholders to understand what that advice might be before it's given to the IESO board?

505

MR. CAMPBELL:
It will be posted in advance of the board meeting, and there will be an opportunity for those stakeholder comments, as well as the management comments, to all be provided to the board before it considers this item on an agenda item.

506

MR. MORAN:
Okay. So, if a stakeholder has some concerns about the advice that's been given to the IESO board, those stakeholders will have an opportunity to give their own views to the board, in some fashion?

507

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, we'd anticipate, in the normal course, that those comments would be provided in writing and they would be provided as they stand to the IESO board.

508

MR. MORAN:
Thanks. Those are all my questions, Mr. Chair.

509

MR. KAISER:
Thank you. Mr. Rodger?

510

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

511

MR. RODGER:
Panel, a number of my questions were asked by Mr. Warren, so I just have a few follow‑up matters on stakeholdering.

512

As Mr. Brown indicated in the outset, in his March 18th letter he talked about Mr. Watts as the independent consultant being retained. I take it that Mr. Watts was retained directly by the IMO?

513

MR. CAMPBELL:
The IESO, that's correct.

514

MR. RODGER:
And was there a written retainer, a written contract that spelled out the scope of work Mr. Watts was to undertake on your behalf?

515

MR. CAMPBELL:
The scope of work was finalized in a proposal letter that was, I think, dated late January.

516

MR. RODGER:
Is that a letter that you could produce for the intervenors?

517

MR. CAMPBELL:
It's for my counsel to decide.

518

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
The IESO has no objection to producing that letter.

519

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Brown. Can we reserve a number for that, please?

520

MS. LITT:
Undertaking H.1.1.

521

UNDERTAKING NO. H.1.1:
TO PROVIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN IESO AND MR. WATTS, DATED LATE JANUARY 2005

522

MR. RODGER:
And just to be clear, in terms of the scope of work or the box within which Mr. Watts had to work on the project, as you described it, my understanding from your evidence today is that he basically had free reign to explore any scope of stakeholdering issues that he deemed appropriate and that were arisen out of the discussions with stakeholders; is that fair?

523

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct, and ‑‑ the focus, though, is to put forward a proposal or alternatives for a proposal for carrying forward stakeholdering under our new governance arrangements.

524

MR. RODGER:
And Mr. Cowbourne, in both the MAC minutes and again this morning, it seemed to be that the main thrust of the value that your organization puts on stakeholdering is that it's essential for good decision‑making on your part. Is that a fair summary?

525

MR. COWBOURNE:
Yes.

526

MR. RODGER:
And because it leads to good decision‑making, you'd agree with me, then, that the ‑‑ as these issues that come up in the stakeholdering, as they come up over time, I take it, then, that the IESO has not made a decision on any of those matters throughout the stakeholdering process, that this is something you get input that ultimately leads to a decision that your organization has yet to make on any given matter?

527

MR. COWBOURNE:
You're talking about issues in general, not the specific one on stakeholder review?

528

MR. RODGER:
Yeah, that if the output of the stakeholdering process is to give you information so you can make a good decision, then when issues come up like locational marginal pricing, your organization ‑‑ there's no preconceived idea on whether a particular item is a good idea or a bad idea while the stakeholdering is going on; is that fair?

529

MR. COWBOURNE:
The outcome of any stakeholdering on a particular issue is very dependent upon the stakeholder input. But to say we go into a particular issue without a view at all I think would mischaracterize it. We would have a sense from the perspective of operating the market of maintaining the reliability of past system of things that might be good ideas or not‑so‑good ideas, but nevertheless, that would be one input to the stakeholdering process.

530

MR. RODGER:
Because I think ‑‑

531

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mr. Rodger, if I could just add, I think the way we're trying to approach this and we do approach this is, yes, we will identify an issue that we think may need to be addressed and addressed through stakeholdering. I think in terms of the outcome of how that issue or will that issue get addressed is our judgment about its importance and, at some point in the process, how it should be addressed, will that lead to an actual action. That's where the stakeholdering can influence us very strongly as well.

532

MR. RODGER:
So would that be fair to state, Mr. Campbell, that your organization believes that you will be directly affected by the outcome of the stakeholdering process?

533

MR. CAMPBELL:
We can be, yes.

534

MR. RODGER:
And because of that, and because, as Mr. Cowbourne said fairly, you may have views on particular policy matters going into the stakeholdering process, then the result is that your organization itself becomes somewhat of an advocate or could become an advocate for certain positions as part of the stakeholdering process; is that fair?

535

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think at the end of the day, when the stakeholdering process is concluded and a decision recommendation has to go forward, we will take forward a decision recommendation, as our board would expect us to do.

536

But what we try to do is make sure that, yes, here's why we want our board to understand why we're making a recommendation, and we want them to understand what the other views are that might not be in accord with that recommendation.

537

So if that's what you're getting at, that's the way we do it.

538

MR. RODGER:
I think my point, Mr. Campbell, is that when your organization is also involved in the stakeholdering, you're not neutral. You, understandably, have positions that you may want to advocate within the stakeholdering context.

539

MR. CAMPBELL:
We may well take a position on a particular matter at a particular point in time. That's possible. Okay, on this aspect of something, we've listened to the debate, here's kind of where we're landing, and if we have to go and get a decision before we proceed, then that process would follow in the normal course.

540

But I think more generally, if, for instance it's a reliability problem that has given rise to some issues that need to be stakeholdered, I think the way we approach it is we believe there needs to be a solution to this problem. I think we're capable of being persuaded out of that, if that view was not widely shared.

541

But if it's an underlying reliability problem that we have a responsibility to address, we will want to address that problem. I think where in that circumstance stakeholders play a really valuable role is helping us to understand what might be the most efficient way to address that problem. But we are not ‑‑ we don't sort of turn over our responsibilities or power‑system operation and so on entirely to the stakeholders. We have obligations that we have to carry out.

542

MR. RODGER:
If you look at some of the context of Mr. Watts' working paper, it's about process, stakeholder process.

543

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

544

MR. RODGER:
And if your organization has an interest, a direct interest in the outcome of that process, don't you see it as problematic if your organization facilitates and manages that process?

545

MR. CAMPBELL:
No, I don't, Mr. Rodger.

546

MR. RODGER:
Why is that?

547

MR. CAMPBELL:
Because I think we have a responsibility to address our obligations and I think what we have to do is show that we are trying to do that in a way that is both responsive to the issue, responsive to the kinds of concerns that stakeholders have, responsive to the choices that could be made in addressing that issue. And I think as long as we are fair in our considerations, as long as we provide a good opportunity for good discussion ‑‑ not only with us, but amongst stakeholders, because often these are not a matter of us on one side and stakeholders on another. There can be a wide range of views amongst the stakeholders.

548

So I think we have a responsibility to have a process that fairly brings those points of view, allows for fair and complete debate on it. And I think it's entirely appropriate that we take responsibility for doing that well. I think we should take responsibility for doing it well.

549

MR. RODGER:
So, Mr. Campbell, how would you address the concern that, if your organization is one of many stakeholders, that there could be a risk seen that your particular organization could have an inordinate influence over the outcome of the stakeholdering process, and that's kind of a problem on step 1?

550

MR. CAMPBELL:
I simply don't see it as an issue, provided we have kind of an open and transparent process, which, I believe, is exactly what we're aiming at.

551

Yes, we are part of the stakeholder discussions, but we also have a whole set of responsibilities around the market and the system operation that exist independently, and really flow from our statutory obligations and our market rule obligations.

552

But I don't think that puts us in a conflict position. What it does is, it puts us in a position of trying to seek out the best solution to the issues that need to be addressed. And being open to the fact that sometimes people are going to say, this isn't an issue that needs to be addressed.

553

MR. RODGER:
Now, you testified earlier, Mr. Campbell, that Mr. Watts had a pretty broad scope for conducting his review into this working paper on stakeholdering.

554

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

555

MR. RODGER:
As part of that retainer letter, or as part of your discussions with Mr. Watts, did you ask him to specifically consider having a completely independent person, other than your organization, facilitate the stakeholdering process?

556

MR. CAMPBELL:
We didn't direct him to consider anything or not consider anything. We asked for his advice and expertise on the matter. I think, if I read the report correctly, one of the stakeholder techniques he refers to does contemplate other than IESO facilitation, in some circumstances.

557

MR. RODGER:
So that is an option that's open for his consideration?

558

MR. CAMPBELL:
Absolutely. We're looking for the best advice we can get from him, Mr. Rodger.

559

MR. RODGER:
And would you agree with me that having someone completely independent from the IESO facilitating the stakeholdering could be one very important way to alleviate a perception that independence ‑‑ or more independence is needed, as we look forward?

560

MR. CAMPBELL:
I would agree that it could be a way.

561

MR. RODGER:
And the Ontario Energy Board could, perhaps, take that role, as an independent facilitator? Is that one option?

562

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think what I'd be looking for in that kind of circumstance ‑ again, speaking with this caveat that I'm speaking from my own view ‑ my own view would be that the qualities of running a facilitated discussion reside in many quarters. And I'm not going to be picky about where they come from, should the stakeholdering review culminate in a decision that that technique be used more than it has already.

563

MR. RODGER:
Would you agree with me, Mr. Campbell ‑‑ we heard your response to Mr. Warren about your caution about prejudging management's position on some of these items. Wouldn't you agree that, by having a completely independent facilitator, that would actually go a long way to meet those objectives, those concerns, that you haven't taken a view by having someone completely independent facilitate the whole process?

564

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think what I can say is that, in terms of the techniques that we adopt for stakeholdering, I think one of Mr. Watts' principles contemplates advanced stakeholdering techniques such as independent facilitation, and, frankly, I will be interested to know whether people think on some issues that would be helpful or not helpful.

565

I don't think you can simply adopt one technique, universally, for all questions. It may be that it's entirely appropriate as a technique for dealing this particular kind of issue; it may not be for that kind of issue. I'm not going to rule it out, though.

566

MR. RODGER:
Now, it was indicated a couple of times that your reason for selecting Mr. Watt is that he, himself, would be independent. Is that correct?

567

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

568

MR. RODGER:
Could you just give us a sense of Mr. Watts' background in this area? I know there was some reference of some 20 years of stakeholdering experience, but is there any more details you could provide for us on what his background is?

569

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think as a consultant he's been ‑‑ his practice has primarily focused on this area, I suspect, virtually for the whole period since he left the old Ontario Hydro.

570

MR. RODGER:
He was a former Ontario Hydro employee?

571

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct. At some ‑‑ I mean, it was a very long time ago, now, but ...

572

MR. RODGER:
Did he also act for any of the companies after re‑structuring? Hydro One or OPG or‑‑

573

MR. CAMPBELL:
I'm not at all ‑‑ I don't know, Mr. Rodger.

574

MR. RODGER:
When you were looking for a consultant for this process, did you consult with any stakeholders as to their input; for example, coming up with a collective or joint statement of ‑‑ or scope of work? Or is this something that IESO did on its own?

575

MR. CAMPBELL:
No, we worked this out on our own.

576

MR. RODGER:
Did you think about inviting stakeholders to come up with a scope of work?

577

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think, given that the scope of work is, essentially, fully open‑ended as to what a stakeholder process should look like, going forward, in the changed circumstances, we didn't ‑‑ frankly, I don't think we thought that was necessary. We didn't put any limitations on it.

578

MR. RODGER:
Okay. I just have a few questions on the cost comparators. And, just briefly, I would like to refer ‑‑ these were sent to Mr. Brown.

579

And, Mr. Lyle, I wonder if I could just have you pass these up to the front.

580

MR. CAMPBELL:
These are the documents we got last night, Mr. Rodger?

581

MR. RODGER:
Yes, Mr. Campbell. And the two, specifically this one deck of slides, entitled "First Meeting of the Regulatory Standing Committee, Gearing Up for IMO 2003 Fees Submission, April 12th, 2002."

582

Ms. Litt, if that can be made an exhibit, please?

583

MS. LITT:
Exhibit I.1.4.

584

EXHIBIT NO. I.1.4:
DECK OF SLIDES ENTITLED "FIRST MEETING OF THE REGULATORY STANDING COMMITTEE, GEARING UP FOR IMO 2003 FEES SUBMISSION," DATED APRIL 12, 2002

585

MR. KAISER:
Sorry, what was that number, Mr. Vegh?

586

MR. VEGH:
I.1.4.

587

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

588

MR. RODGER:
And the second is one page, "IMO 2004 Fees Submission, Obligations and Undertakings Arising from the settlement agreement and OEB's Decision, with Reasons."

589

MS. LITT:
Exhibit I.1.5.

590

EXHIBIT NO. I.1.5:
IMO 2004 FEES SUBMISSION, OBLIGATIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS ARISING FROM THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND OEB'S DECISION, WITH REASONS

591

MR. KAISER:
Sorry, Mr. Rodger, that last reference, please?

592

MR. RODGER:
I.1.5.

593

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

594

MR. RODGER:
And I just want to provide some historical context, I think, to build on, Mr. Sherkey, your testimony, for my questions today.

595

But, if you go to this first deck of slides, and the pages aren't numbered, but it's about a half dozen pages from the end. And the slide is entitled "Benchmarking Deliverables." And, again, this is the context of the 2003 submission. And the brief slide reads:

596

"The OEB recognized the embryonic stage and dynamic nature of the industry, and does not direct or expect the IMO to go beyond its commitment set out in the settlement agreement. IMO will continue with the high‑level budget comparisons with our peer organizations, based on publically available information. We anticipate that 2003 budgets for our peer organizations will be established in the fall, given the rapid pace of change in the industry. The other system operators have expressed limited interest in details comparisons."

597

Then, on the next page, really more of the same, you indicate how you're going to compare IMO performance measures "with those of our peer organizations based on publically available information," and you anticipate being able to make initial comparisons available by the spring.

598

Then, if we go to the next document, the obligations and undertakings of IMO, we see the first bullet under the settlement agreement has to do with corporate performance measures. And here you talk about your undertaking to discuss a number of these measures with the Regulatory Affairs Standing Committee and there's a number of bullet points here, including, "Seeking ways for a more public disclosure of performance measure results."

599

And you talked about information that you have produced, both in earlier processes and now, and I just wasn't exactly clear. In light of this ‑ and we'll talk more about this shortly, this kind of gulf that's developing between the ‑‑ what's fallen out of the FERC rules and this need to establish common baskets, and the imperfections you see with the information that is available ‑ what role do you see for the stakeholders in between those two developments? What can this Board expect, given the kind of historical context for this whole issue about what can be produced and also what the role of stakeholders will be in that context?

600

MR. SHERKEY:
I think it's fair to say that, as we work through the FERC notice of inquiry and as the FERC ‑‑ as the FERC looks at what we propose, we propose a straw plan of changes to uniform system of accounts. As the FERC looks at that, and let's assume they agree to that or some other form, which sets the framework upon which the cost initiative will be based.

601

When that is done, we continue to work towards that populated, if you will, by each of the respective ISOs. That will produce a report. So pending the FERC process, which is ongoing as we speak, the intent, of course, is to produce a report reflecting a lot of that information.

602

The framework that was proposed is very, very detailed. In fact, I would say that a lot of the proposals that we put into that straw framework came about as a result of a lot of the work that we had been doing with the other ISOs in the latter part of 2003 and throughout 2004, until the FERC came out with this notice of inquiry in the fall of 2004.

603

MR. RODGER:
So it sounds like, sir, from that process, in terms of the role of stakeholders, that this establishment of common baskets, if I can call it that, common data baskets, will be something that the ISOs themselves will be dealing with and the stakeholders are more on the outside waiting for the report to be produced. Is that fair?

604

MR. SHERKEY:
That's a fair way to put it, because once the report is out, we have every intention, all of us, to take it to each of our respective stakeholders and seek input.

605

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mr. Rodger, if I could just add to that, it's quite open to stakeholders to comment in the FERC process as to whether the statement of accounts that's being proposed is appropriate. I think the point that we're trying to make is that it will be of very limited value if the IESO started using a breakdown of its costs that was completely inconsistent or that was inconsistent in any material respect with what eventually is going to be adopted by all of the other ISOs.

606

To do these comparisons, it's going to be important that those costs be broken down in a way that is comparable, and FERC is controlling that process for the bulk of the other ISOs with whom comparisons will have to be made. So to some extent, we've got to kind of adjust to that. But within that process, there is the opportunity for stakeholders to make representations to FERC.

607

MR. RODGER:
So if stakeholders, for example, wanted influence on ‑‑ input as to defining the baskets and the information that would go in there, the answer from you would be they should get involved in that FERC process?

608

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes, or let us know if they have any specific concerns with respect to what was being proposed.

609

MR. RODGER:
And with that answer, sir, then the next question is, then, what is the role of this Board on a go‑forward basis with respect to the benchmarking issue, given the historical context of past settlement agreements that I talked about earlier?

610

MR. SHERKEY:
I think that what we would do is continue to include comparisons in our business plan that we submit to this Board annually. The difference will be instead of taking higher level numbers from the public domain, it will be much more sophisticated, much more detailed and much more meaningful.

611

MR. RODGER:
So I take it, then, that, in your view, there still is some useful information that can come out of the publicly available data, flawed it as may be, but it's still a worthwhile exercise to pursue, and there's some value this Board can take from that comparison?

612

MR. SHERKEY:
I would counter that by saying it's actually quite limited. We have found it to be quite limited over the years. It's of, I'd say, very, very limited use. So the idea was to work towards meaningful reports, meaningful comparisons and looking at not only our similarities so that one could compare apples to apples, but there will be cases where there will be differences. And there many cases of differences among ISOs. And to establish that in a report and to understand it in a context is what was behind the initial cost of comparison study that we initiated that was initiated by the IESO.

613

MR. RODGER:
Now, you also said, sir, that it was unclear at this time when FERC would actually conclude this process; is that fair?

614

MR. SHERKEY:
Could you repeat the question?

615

MR. RODGER:
That at this time it's unclear how long it's going to take for FERC and the IESOs to conclude their process of establishing the common baskets?

616

MR. SHERKEY:
That's correct.

617

MR. RODGER:
So we could be talking about several years hence. Or is your view that this is something that could be concluded fairly quickly?

618

MR. SHERKEY:
I'll give you what I'll call a personal view, if I may. And that is that the FERC seems bent on moving this forward. We invited the FERC into discussions with the CFO group at one point in time and told the FERC ‑‑ in fact, we took a leadership role in that as well and informed the FERC that we're doing a cost initiative, that we thought this was an important thing to do. The FERC wants to move on this, wants to see is this in place. It's in all of our interests to do so.

619

MR. RODGER:
Mr. Sherkey, what my client is concerned about is the apparent gulf that's emerging on this matter, that for several years, this has been an area that AMPCO's been interested in. We have obligations and undertakings given at earlier proceedings. But now we have this undefined time before we're going to get any meaningful data, and the publicly available information in the interim doesn't seem to be particularly useful.

620

So I wonder how you could respond to that concern, that we seem to have gone to a certain stage and that all of a sudden we've got this big question mark in the future of when we're actually going to get some movement in this important area.

621

MR. SHERKEY:
Well, we don't control that process. I think it's incumbent upon us to include stakeholders through the regulatory affairs standing committee, or any other committee that's deemed to be a good committee of stakeholders, to keep them engaged in this process, to let them know how we're faring along the way. Beyond that, I mean, we do believe that this is of interest not only to ourselves as the management team, it's of interest to our board of directors in its oversight role of the management team. Each of the respective ISOs believes the same thing.

622

We now understand, and it's been published, that the FERC notice of inquiry has looked at the importance of setting a standard and using those standards to measure each of the ISOs and RTOs.

623

With all that happening, Mr. Rodger, we feel that it won't be a long period of time. I can't define the period of time specifically, but we think it's reasonable to assume it's going to be in a reasonable time frame. We will include stakeholders along the way.

624

MR. RODGER:
Is it your intention that whatever analysis does ‑‑ that you do work with on the publicly available information, do you anticipate that's something do you will continue to keep filing, year in and year out, notwithstanding any delays that may happen on the FERC side?

625

MR. SHERKEY:
Well, I don't ‑‑ frankly we don't see the need to take the publicly available information and spend the time when we have agreed, and all of us have agreed, that it's not providing meaningful information.

626

The key here is for all of us to work together and to provide, along with the stakeholders, the information that is meaningful.

627

I would add, Mr. Rodger, that we never said that when we finally do produce a report that it's static. It will be a dynamic report. It will be a report that stakeholders will have input into. It will be a report that will change.

628

MR. RODGER:
I guess the long and short of that, Mr. Sherkey, is that, at least at this time, the whole issue of a benchmarking is basically on hold, pending the resolution of the FERC issues; is that fair?

629

MR. SHERKEY:
It's a characterization, but it wouldn't say it's on hold. I would say it's progressing. So "on hold" implies that it's stalled, and I would argue that it's not stalled. It's progressing, and it appears to be progressing fairly quickly.

630

MR. RODGER:
But in terms of data forthcoming that intervenors like AMPCO can look to, we shouldn't be holding our breath.

631

MR. SHERKEY:
Again, I don't think that's a fair classification, because, once the FERC approves this, we'll start moving towards our report. The ROC, which is the council of CEOs of each of our respective organizations, will issue a report. Once that is in the public domain, the IESO has the intent, of course, to share that with stakeholders. You'll have input into that. You'll read the report in context. It will have numbers.

632

We have to have all the information in each of our respectful organizations in order to have an ability to compare one against the other. It is progressing.

633

MR. RODGER:
But as we sit here today, sir, on March 29th, 2005, there is no definite insight at all when all this might be complete and the data ‑‑

634

MR. SHERKEY:
If I may, you're asking me to prejudge when FERC will finalize something that we don't control. I cannot do that.

635

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Sherkey, do you know when they're going to report?

636

MR. SHERKEY:
No, I don't. But I do know, as everybody in this room knows, it has been filed. The FERC has indicated an interest in this, moving this forward, in terms of its notice of inquiry. It has every intention to move this as expeditiously as it can. Beyond that, it would be no different from me asking the OEB to tell me when they're going to rule on certain things.

637

There is a process, it takes time, and it's not for me to second‑guess that time. But they certainly are interested. There is no question.

638

MR. RODGER:
Sir, if I could just turn briefly to the IESO cost‑comparison initiative agreement that you filed. And I just want to refer to one section of it, and I'll just read the first recital, if I could.

639

MR. CAMPBELL:
What's the reference, please?

640

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Sorry. It's Exhibit G, tab 2, schedule 1.

641

MR. RODGER:
Thank you, Mr. Brown.

642

MR. SHERKEY:
Okay.

643

MR. RODGER:
Sir, this is a copy of the agreement that the IESO executed?

644

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

645

MR. RODGER:
And just looking at the recital at the top, which reads:

646

"Whereas the parties, each a participant in the IESO cost‑comparison initiative (the Project) anticipate sharing certain confidential and/or proprietary cost‑related information in order to create a comprehensive comparison of the costs, revenue requirements, fees and services offered by the parties."

647

I'm just wondering if you could give us a sense of why confidentiality is needed. What is it about the data that would give rise to the confidentiality concerns?

648

MR. SHERKEY:
We feel, as a group, that it was absolutely customary to sign such an agreement in the circumstances. It's common business practice to sign non‑disclosure agreements for a bunch of parties that share a lot of information, before they even know what that information is going to be in the nature of that.

649

And, I'll be perfectly frank, that it was a condition of gaining total involvement. It wasn't the IESO that initiated the non‑disclosure agreement, but it became a condition upon which we, as a group, could move forward. At that time, what we wanted to do was move forward, and get all of the other ISOs on Board.

650

MR. RODGER:
But aren't all signatories to this agreement, aren't they public agencies, in some shape or form?

651

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes, they are.

652

MR. RODGER:
So, again, what's the confidentiality concern of public agencies claiming proprietary rights over this kind of information?

653

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mr. Rodger, I'm sorry, but if I can just go back. I don't think all of the organizations are, certainly, what I would understand to be public agencies. They may be publically regulated, but I don't believe they're all public agencies. Certain of them exist by dint of membership agreements. That's the structure within which they operate. So I don't think it's fair to say they're all public agencies. I believe they are all regulated.

654

MR. RODGER:
You're saying, Mr. Sherkey, that this was a condition; otherwise these other ISOs would not have signed this agreement?

655

MR. SHERKEY:
Not all them would have signed, that's correct.

656

MR. RODGER:
Do you know how many absolutely required this, out of the group?

657

MR. SHERKEY:
It was dominated by the U.S. ISOs, and, I'd say, a majority.

658

MR. RODGER:
Was this a concern also for your organization, or were you prepared to release this information?

659

MR. SHERKEY:
At the time it wasn't something that we raised.

660

MR. RODGER:
Is this something that could be explored further if, for example, a decision of this Board was to ‑‑ for you to go back and explore, really, what are the elements that were concerns for those other ISOs? And if that direction had the weight of our regulator, I take it that would be something you would take back to the other group in the U.S.? Until we ask ‑‑

661

MR. SHERKEY:
That was contemplated in 4 ‑‑ if you look at provision 4 of the non‑disclosure agreement.

662

MR. RODGER:
Yes.

663

MR. SHERKEY:
But there's always a danger ‑‑

664

MR. RODGER:
I'm sorry, sir?

665

MR. SHERKEY:
There's always a concern of doing that. I mean, to answer your question, yes, if we were so instructed, we would do so, but I would highlight to ‑‑ certainly, to the Board, that there could be a concern in doing so. If we don't get cooperation to participate from the other ISOs, then we can't have a comparison that is meaningful. It is absolutely essential, in order to compare ourselves against others, that we all participate.

666

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mr. Rodger, we're looking at this not simply in the snapshot of time now. We're looking at earning, in effect, the confidence of the other IESOs in this process, going forward. We would like to be able to do these comparisons on an ongoing basis, and, really, that's why Mr. Sherkey has taken such a lead in pushing this forward, is because we think it's useful for this Board, for market participants, generally, for stakeholders, and for IESO management

667

So we're looking at this in the context of, we want to bring these people along with us, going forward. It's not just a one‑shot effort.

668

MR. RODGER:
Maybe you could help me understand, Mr. Campbell, or Mr. Sherkey, then, the difference between the confidentiality issues that are reflected in your cost‑comparative agreement and what you do expect to be publically available as a result of the FERC process. I believe your evidence earlier was that, after that FERC report comes out, parties can have a look at that and review it. So what's going to be different? The FERC is going to be able to release something with information, and yet, under this regime, it's all confidential. What's going to be the differences in the deliverables or the outputs in those two processes?

669

MR. SHERKEY:
The FERC process will settle the cost categories, which is ‑‑ we took the proactive approach, in proposing that straw man. If you look at that straw man, and look at all of the detail in schedule A in support of this document we have filed here with the OEB, you'll see there's an awful lot of detail, breaking down the different functions.

670

So, in essence ‑‑ I understand your question. It is very detailed, it is going to take a lot of effort on the parts of all of the ISOs in order to continue to provide information into that process. At the end of it, it will be a very, very fulsome document. It will be very comprehensive and useful. It would not have been so different from what we originally started. It captured the same thing. The objectives have not changed.

671

MR. RODGER:
So am I correct when I say that, when this output of this FERC process eventually happens, whether it's six months from now or three years from now, whenever that time is, then the public will see the whole gamut of costs categories ‑‑

672

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

673

MR. RODGER:
‑‑ as well as the data that goes into those individual categories, across several utilities? Or will the FERC report just deal with the categories and no data because of these confidentiality issues? That's what we're struggling with is what can we ‑‑ what's our expectation of what we'll have to deal with at the end of the day.

674

MR. SHERKEY:
What we have filed is a framework.

675

MR. RODGER:
A framework.

676

MR. SHERKEY:
That framework identifies the various functions and a lot of accounts and subaccounts. At the completion of that, with all the input each of the respective ISOs, we will have the formal report that you're referring to. It will be populated by each of our respective organizations within that framework that we have proposed.

677

MR. RODGER:
So I take it from that that somehow through the FERC process it's going to be able to remedy this confidentially issue? That we'll then be able to look at all these baskets, look at all these different ISOs and then do an apples‑to‑apples comparison, including the data that underlines each ISO's operations?

678

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's the objective. The FERC process itself is aimed at the cost ‑‑ identifying the cost categories. I'm assuming they'll move on and say, Okay, now populate them. But the proceeding that is underway is aimed at getting a uniform statement of account. The objective that certainly we have had in participating in this right from day one, and certainly that's been taken over and led by Mr. Sherkey, is to have available publically available data that will allow good cost comparisons for the functions of the various organizations.

679

MR. RODGER:
So it would be prudent to make sure that we do all end up where we want to, this apples‑to‑apples comparison of data amongst ISOs, for regulators such as FERC and such as the Ontario Energy Board to articulate its expectation that the data will be forthcoming as part of that global picture that we all want to end up with; is that correct?

680

MR. SHERKEY:
That's correct.

681

MR. RODGER:
Thank you very much, panel.

682

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

683

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

684

Mr. Janigan?

685

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. JANIGAN:

686

MR. JANIGAN:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

687

Panel, I wonder if you could turn up section 13.2 of the Electricity Act. It's the section entitled "Stakeholder Input."

688

And as I understand it, this section, which was put into the Act by way of Bill 100, has statutorily provided a requirement to seek advice and recommendations.

689

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

690

MR. JANIGAN:
And this was formally a requirement that the IESO imposed on itself?

691

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, we undertook stakeholdering. There was not this same statutory language placing an obligation, but we did undertake that, yes.

692

MR. JANIGAN:
And the section itself, and I'll read the section:

693

"That the IESO shall establish one or more processes by which consumers, distributors, generators, transmitters and other persons who have an interest in the electricity industry may provide advice and recommendations for consideration by the IESO."

694

That section gives a list of who should provide the advice and recommendations; would you agree with me?

695

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

696

MR. JANIGAN:
And is that list the same as IESO's understanding of who is a stakeholder for the purpose of this process?

697

MR. COWBOURNE:
The answer is yes, and it includes the reference not only to the specific sectors that are mentioned there, but all of the persons who have an interest in the electricity industry.

698

MR. JANIGAN:
How does the IESO interpret the term "interest"? Is it a financial interest, an intellectual interest?

699

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think it could be all of those, anyone who has an interest in ‑‑ I mean, I'm hard‑pressed to think of anybody in the province of Ontario who couldn't assert they have an interest in the electricity industry, one way or the other.

700

MR. JANIGAN:
Okay. And just for the sake of accuracy, I just want to turn your attention to the definition section of the Electricity Act and the term "market participant."

701

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mm‑hm.

702

MR. JANIGAN:
And it indicates that: "Market participant means a person who is authorized by market rules to participate in the IESO‑administered market to cause or permit electricity to be conveyed into, through, or out of IESO controlled grid."

703

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

704

MR. COWBOURNE:
Correct.

705

MR. JANIGAN:
So market participant, by definition, is just one segment of that list of stakeholders that we referred to earlier in section 13.2; would you agree?

706

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct, and we've indicated that in our answer to interrogatory 4.4.

707

MR. JANIGAN:
Now, how have you decided to balance participation in any process so that it is representative of the group of stakeholders listed in 13.2, or have you decided?

708

MR. COWBOURNE:
As we have previously evidenced, the governance and structured bylaw establishes the population of the technical panel, which is one of the forums for stakeholdering. The Market Advisory Council has a seat for all market participants, plus the other groups and interested parties that are mentioned in the consultation handbook. And in terms of how to balance, as I indicated earlier, the question is not the numbers but the views of parties that need to be represented

709

If it's just a single party, it could still be a valid view, and that needs to be carried forward and is carried forward to the decision‑maker.

710

MR. JANIGAN:
So I can take from that that everybody is to be included in an approach that solicits the advice and recommendation of stakeholders, and the numbers of representatives of individual stakeholders are not necessarily looked to. It is the advice itself that is examined as to whether or not it is representative of a large group of customers, let's say.

711

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think what we're looking for is advice from the broad range of stakeholders, and I don't think in order to give that advice there's any sort of minimum threshold of number or it isn't ‑‑ it isn't ‑‑ it isn't intended to be sort of representation by population. What we look to is the merits of the advice that come forward for each of the interests that's represented.

712

MR. JANIGAN:
But I take it, it is intended to be inclusive insofar as anyone who is a stakeholder, pursuant to the definition we just explored, should be included in the process.

713

MR. CAMPBELL:
They should be given the opportunity to provide advice and recommendations within the process.

714

MR. JANIGAN:
Okay. Now, has your process to date, in looking at the stakeholder ‑‑ how to most effectively obtain stakeholder input, has your process to date, in order to do that, exercised those same kind of principles?

715

MR. COWBOURNE:
Yes, they have.

716

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's the process as we have been carrying it out to date.

717

MR. JANIGAN:
Okay. If I could refer you to Exhibit G, tab 4, schedule 3, and this is the ‑‑ I guess it's a set of slides that was presented to the Market Advisory Council meeting, on February 23rd. I'm looking at page 3.

718

MR. CAMPBELL:
Page 3, yes.

719

MR. JANIGAN:
And it has, at the top of the page "Process Overview," and it has, in January ‑‑ it has four phases, I think, as they're described later in the report, and we are now at the end of phase 2.

720

Have all stakeholders been involved with phase 1 and 2, in providing input?

721

MR. CAMPBELL:
The answer is yes, in the sense that Mr. Watts both did a series of interviews and, as well, he led the session that was put on the web in advance, that he would be leading the session on ‑‑ on the stakeholdering process, for February 23rd. So there was the opportunity.

722

MR. JANIGAN:
But I take it, Mr. Campbell, that Mr. Watt has received no input, up to the end of phase 2, from consumer groups?

723

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yeah, I think ‑‑ our understanding from Mr. Watts is that he looked at ‑‑ or, in his discussions, he proactively sought out all three sectors of consumers, certainly LDCs ‑‑

724

MR. COWBOURNE:
The three sectors of consumers that, I understand, he spoke to were the industrial, the commercial, and the residential ‑‑ representatives from the residential.

725

MR. JANIGAN:
Who did he speak to in the residential consumers?

726

MR. CAMPBELL:
He spoke to Bill Harper of the Consumers Association of Canada.

727

MR. JANIGAN:
Well, actually, Bill Harper advises from time to time, but he wouldn't be a representative.

728

MR. CAMPBELL:
Anyway, I'm advised directly by Mr. Watts that he spoke to Mr. Harper.

729

MR. JANIGAN:
Okay. In what capacity was Mr. Harper speaking? Do you know?

730

MR. CAMPBELL:
What I have indicated here, it's just my own note, is that, as I say ‑‑ I had down "CAC," but what I may be getting this confused with is that he is a member of the technical panel as well, representing the residential consumers. So that's ‑‑ he is a representative for that group, and was, as I understand it, spoken to as the person knowledgeable ‑‑ or was consulted by Mr. Watts as a person knowledgeable in the kinds of concerns that would exist for smaller consumers.

731

MR. JANIGAN:
Now, panel, I wonder if you could indicate who ensures that IESO lives up to its obligations under section 13.2?

732

MR. CAMPBELL:
In the first instance, I can guarantee you it will be our board. And, given that we intend these processes to be very transparent, I anticipate that, if people have concerns about that, it will turn up both in our own reviews of stakeholdering, which we will continue to carry on, and perhaps even before this Board.

733

MR. JANIGAN:
So, certainly, you will concede that the Board, this Board, will review the stakeholdering process with respect to the cost implications of that process?

734

MR. CAMPBELL:
I expect that the ‑‑ yes, I mean, it will be a cost that, like all our costs, comes before this Board every year.

735

MR. JANIGAN:
And, in order to appropriately assess costs, I would assume that they will have to come to some conclusion about the effectiveness of your stakeholdering process?

736

MR. CAMPBELL:
I would assume they would expect the same kind of oversight of this cost as they would all our costs.

737

MR. JANIGAN:
And you would agree with me that effective stakeholdering may have the effect of lowering the costs of IESO?

738

MR. CAMPBELL:
Certainly, we haven't identified that ‑‑ I haven't identified that in my own mind as a particular objective. I think it certainly has that possibility. I think effective stakeholdering, good decision‑making as a result of that, even if all it does is reduce the regulatory burden in this kind of proceeding, it is going to enhance the ‑‑ enhance our getting our work done efficiently.

739

MR. JANIGAN:
I just have a few questions on the benchmarking issue.

740

If I could just start by attempting to understand, the IESO's position on benchmarking is that there are two separate processes, as we understand it: The IESO cost‑comparison initiative project and, separately, the FERC process. Am I correct on that?

741

MR. SHERKEY:
There was a process before the FERC process. The process that we initiated was the cost‑comparison initiative.

742

MR. JANIGAN:
Yes.

743

MR. SHERKEY:
That's the process that we initiated when, in September of 2004, the FERC issued its notice of inquiry to the uniform system of accounts. So now there is one process.

744

MR. JANIGAN:
Okay. And the reason it is one process is that the earlier process has been discontinued until the FERC comes to a conclusion?

745

MR. SHERKEY:
Well, the earlier process was actually used as a framework upon which we could build the straw framework, and be proactive in getting something to FERC sooner.

746

MR. JANIGAN:
Okay. But that process that was initiated first must wait for the conclusion of the FERC process?

747

MR. SHERKEY:
As a follow‑up to the FERC ruling, each of the respective ISOs will provide its data, so there will be a cost comparison performed.

748

MR. JANIGAN:
Yeah. But you will be unable to act upon that until the FERC makes its decision upon this?

749

MR. SHERKEY:
That's correct.

750

MR. JANIGAN:
Okay. And do you understand that the FERC process that is underway is one of a number of different initiatives that FERC has on its plate?

751

MR. SHERKEY:
I'm sure.

752

MR. JANIGAN:
And do you also understand that there is going to be a change in the chairmanship of FERC and a whole new executive put in place for FERC in the very near future?

753

MR. CAMPBELL:
I understand that there's a lot of talk about that.

754

MR. JANIGAN:
Do you know whether or not this initiative will survive a change in administration of the FERC?

755

MR. CAMPBELL:
I mean, I can't know for certain, but I think ‑‑ given the profile that it's had, I fully expect that it will. This has been something that they've given a fairly high priority to.

756

MR. JANIGAN:
And after the FERC decision is released, how long will it be to put the ‑‑ what has been derived in the FERC decision in place, in the Canadian context?

757

MR. SHERKEY:
We have been doing that even before the FERC process, and that was under the non‑disclosure agreement, so we'll continue, and much of the accounts, subaccounts that exist in the straw proposal that we submitted to FERC has been populated. So we have all been working.

758

In fact, the IESO, because obviously we're not under FERC jurisdiction, to reclassify and regroup its books of account, that was a lot of work. We are completing that, we are submitting information into this process, and we'll continue to do so.

759

MR. JANIGAN:
How soon after the FERC decision is obtained will it be able to be put in place from the standpoint of the IESO?

760

MR. SHERKEY:
Shortly thereafter.

761

MR. JANIGAN:
Can you be a little more certain with respect to "shortly"?

762

MR. SHERKEY:
Assuming ‑‑ I can speak for the IESO and I can say that we can submit our data. We've done that work, we continue to complete that work, and it won't be on our part. It's difficult for me to speak on behalf of ISOs to say exactly what timing, but I can say that they all have been participating, some a little quicker than others, so it's hard to say this is the exact time, because it's not something we control. But we all are intent to provide that information. That is a firm understanding we have.

763

MR. JANIGAN:
There will be the next step, though, however?

764

MR. CAMPBELL:
That assumes, Mr. Janigan, the FERC does not make any dramatic change to the statement of accounts that has been proposed. Because if that happens, I think there has to be some cycling back.

765

MR. JANIGAN:
So there's another variable in play as this scenario.

766

MR. SHERKEY:
Correct. FERC has to approve what we have submitted.

767

MR. JANIGAN:
I wonder if you could ‑‑ oh, I wonder if ‑‑ I'd like to understand why bilateral agreements on benchmarking could not have been entered into, for example, with the Alberta and the New York ISOs?

768

MR. SHERKEY:
I guess in looking at total comparability, each of us do different things. What we wanted to have is many participants ‑‑ in fact, we wanted all of the ISOs, which is what we currently have, to participate in this initiative. The more, the more valuable the comparison is. To do any sort of one‑off with any one organization, when you factor in all the different functions and functionalities and so forth, again, it becomes less and less meaningful as you exclude other participants.

769

MR. JANIGAN:
Okay. Well, in that vein, I wonder if you could turn up VECC IR 8.7, and, in particular, refer to question B: "What IESO's costs relative to the Alberta ISO are in the following categories," and it gives a number of comparators, "cost per unit of energy delivered, cost per market participant, cost per transmission customer."

770

It appears to me that on a full‑cost basis, the IESO costs for each of the requested benchmarks are much higher than those of the Alberta ISO. Would you agree with that?

771

MR. SHERKEY:
In the first table, that is correct. Second table, some adjustments were made to take out amortization and interest, so that the capital expenditures that were put in place by each of the respective organizations was normalized, if you will. Then you will see that the IESO actually compares very well.

772

MR. JANIGAN:
I wonder why it is a good comparison to remove amortization and interest costs. Don't electricity customers pay those costs in the annual fee?

773

MR. SHERKEY:
It's a question of looking at operating costs, the actual costs to operate the actual grid, if you will, as opposed to what it cost to start up, what it cost to invest. And each of the organizations are in different ‑‑ in fact, carry on different functions. So I would come back, if I may, instead of spending a lot of time on any sort of one‑off, to look at Alberta vis‑a‑vis the IESO. And, for example, when you take large numbers without looking at them in the context that we've been discussing here this afternoon, you're not getting what we've been referring to as the apples‑to‑apples comparison.

774

If you look at the IESO and its interconnectivity, for example, just the complexity of their transmission system alone, where the IESO has eight entities, Alberta has two. That in itself makes a marked difference in its cost structure.

775

MR. JANIGAN:
I'm just curious, I'm following up on a statement you made earlier that when we do the comparison and remove amortization and interest costs that the IESO stacks up pretty well. It still seems to me to have, in most of these ‑‑ in most, if not all of these categories, to have numbers which are not very flattering in terms of a comparison to Alberta. Can you speak to that?

776

MR. CAMPBELL:
Let me have an initial run at this, Mr. Janigan.

777

Dealing first with the capital and amortization costs, for some of the ISOs, given their history, they aren't carrying the full cost of the assets that they're using on their books. They may be carried on someone else's books. I can't say what the details are around that in Alberta. I know that, for instance, in New England that was the case for quite a while and they're moving, I think, over time away from that.

778

But just generally, I think the comparison you're making really illustrates the point that you've got to understand the functions that are being carried out. And I can give you an example, if you look at interrogatory 12.3, in the last page, it indicates that our settlement cost services are going to be just over 31 percent of our costs we anticipate in 2005.

779

The settlement arrangements that are run by the Alberta ISO are substantially different from ours, and they would have nothing like those kinds of costs associates, nor would they have anything like the same functionality around the metering and settlement systems, and that's 30 percent of our costs. If you look at the numbers, you ‑‑ if you said, Okay, if the Alberta ISO did an equivalent amount, then its dollar‑per‑megawatt charge starts to get pretty close to ours.

780

So I think the Alberta comparison, even at looking at it at the highest level, is a good example of why you have to get into what each organization does and the amount of its costs that are associated with each of those functions. And simply looking at the numbers like this gives you no intelligence in that at all and is why, we believe, it's been quite ‑‑ it can be quite misleading.

781

MR. JANIGAN:
I guess the follow‑up question that I would have on that is why don't we do a detailed comparison with the Alberta ISO with those kind of parameters built in? Certainly, that would be useful information.

782

MR. SHERKEY:
Alberta is a part of the group, so Alberta is included and is submitting its data into what we've been talking about here today, into the straw proposal.

783

MR. JANIGAN:
That will wait for the FERC, whenever it comes; correct?

784

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

785

MR. JANIGAN:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Those are all my questions for this panel.

786

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

787

Mr. Brown, I think we will break now for lunch, if we can, and come back at 2:00.

788

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Very good, sir.

789

‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 1:00 p.m.

790

‑‑‑ On resuming at 2:02 p.m.

791

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

792

Ms. DeMarco, do you have any questions?

793

MS. DeMARCO:
Just a few, Mr. Chair. Thank you.

794

I'd like to ask a few brief questions relating to two main areas. The first is in relation to the current expenses and costs associated with stakeholdering, and the second is in relation to the IESO process to change its stakeholdering procedures. A number of my colleagues have covered a number ‑‑ a significant number of my questions, so I'll try to avoid duplication.

795

And just as a procedural matter, Mr. Chair, I have put together a compendium of materials for use on cross‑examination.

796

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

797

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Chair, if I could just speak briefly to the compendium of materials. This morning, when I came in, my friend Ms. DeMarco provided me with the materials. The first tab are the materials that the IESO has filed. The second and third tab contain rather extensive materials which we had not seen before, hadn't been produced in accordance with the 24‑hour rule, and, certainly, didn't form part of any evidence that APPrO filed, because APPrO didn't file any evidence.

798

So, while I'm not going to take the position that my friend can't put the materials to the panel, I do want to highlight for the panel that this has sort of been thrown at them at the last minute, and I'm not quite ‑‑ too sure what intelligible answers can be made on fairly voluminous materials that they haven't had an opportunity to read.

799

MR. KAISER:
Do you have any response?

800

MS. DeMARCO:
Yes, Mr. Chair. First and foremost, let me highlight that tab number 1 is, in fact, what I believe constitutes Exhibit G, tab 5, schedule 1, already filed in the proceeding. Tab 2 is a brief article, of which one point will be referred to, and that's been pointed out directly to my friend. And tab 3 is an existing national standard, again, which won't be gone into any detail, just its existence will be the relevance of the cross‑examination.

801

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

802

Mr. Brown, we'll deal with it. If your witnesses need further time, we will accommodate them.

803

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you, sir.

804

MS. DeMARCO:
I should point out that the proceeding has been somewhat dynamic as well, and we did receive the actual working paper on March the 18th from my friends. So, had we received it earlier, it would have afforded more time to produce the material.

805

MR. KAISER:
I understand. Can you distribute the compendium?

806

MS. DeMARCO:
Mr. Campbell, let me first start with you. Oh, I'm sorry.

807

MS. LITT:
That will be Exhibit I.1.6.

808

EXHIBIT NO. I.1.6:
COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS SUBMITTED BY MS. DEMARCO IN AID OF CROSS‑EXAMINATION

809

MR. KAISER:
Ms. DeMarco, why don't you come up to one of the front seats. It will be easier for you.

810

Mr. Warren, can you swap seats?

811

MR. WARREN:
I can trade seats, sir.

812

MR. KAISER:
Trade seats.

813

MS. DeMARCO:
Thank you. Apologies for the delay.

814

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO:

815

MS. DeMARCO:
Mr. Campbell, in your responses to Mr. Moran, you indicated that you reviewed drafts of the working paper, which is found at tab 1 of the materials I produced; is that correct?

816

MR. CAMPBELL:
I reviewed it.

817

MR. KAISER:
Do you have the compendium, Mr. Campbell?

818

MR. CAMPBELL:
I'm sorry?

819

MR. KAISER:
Do you have the compendium?

820

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, I do. Yes.

821

MS. DeMARCO:
Undoubtedly, part of that review was to ensure the accuracy of its contents?

822

MR. CAMPBELL:
It wasn't so much accuracy, because what Mr. Watts was doing was recording his conclusions, based on the information that he had done. So I did not ‑‑ I don't think it was a matter of accuracy, no.

823

MS. DeMARCO:
To the extent that there was any factual matter pertaining to the IESO that was not correct, you would have, in fact, picked that up; is that right?

824

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think so, if it had leapt out at us, yes.

825

MS. DeMARCO:
Can I ask you to turn to page 8 of the working paper?

826

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

827

MS. DeMARCO:
Specifically, in the first bullet, the sentence starts:

828

"The assessment of the appropriate level of stakeholder engagement would be undertaken by a newly‑created IESO stakeholder‑engagement unit, in consultation with the ACBE."

829

In brackets there's a statement reading:

830

"Currently, stakeholder engagement planning and implementation within the IESO is performed by each IESO line‑unit independently."

831

Is that fair?

832

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, I see that.

833

MS. DeMARCO:
Is that statement fair?

834

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, I think that's accurate.

835

MS. DeMARCO:
Mr. Sherkey, then, can I ask you to turn to your prefiled evidence, specifically, the appendices to the business plan filed by the IESO. And I'd ask you to start at page 54, which is the financial statements, which have been updated by Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 2, with some new statements.

836

Specifically, at appendix 1, as updated, can you please identify the line items that would include IESO past and budgeted amounts related to stakeholdering?

837

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Ms. DeMarco, just so I'm clear as to where we should be looking, this is the updated evidence, so it's Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 1, page 37?

838

MS. DeMARCO:
I believe it's Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 2, just following page 5 of 6, starting "Appendix 1," and it's entitled "Pro Forma Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus for the Year Ended December 31st."

839

MR. CAMPBELL:
If it's tab 1, it's the original business plan document you're talking about?

840

MS. DeMARCO:
No, it's the updated evidence. It's dated January 12th, 2005.

841

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
That was the first update. The most current update is the February 9th one. But you want the January 12th, which is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 2?

842

MS. DeMARCO:
Actually, I'd ask you to refer to the February 9th. It's more for the actual line items than the actual amounts.

843

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Okay. I think ‑‑ then I think that's Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 1. Page 37 is the pro forma operations.

844

MS. DeMARCO:
That's right. It's the financial statement associated with those. So this would be the second update at page 7, Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 1, dated February 9th.

845

MR. SHERKEY:
Okay.

846

MR. CAMPBELL:
We have it.

847

MS. DeMARCO:
Mr. Sherkey, can you please identify the line items that would include IESO past and budgeted amounts relating to, or including, any stakeholdering actions?

848

MR. SHERKEY:
The only place that would be ‑‑ would cover stakeholdering costs would be in the OM&A program costs. And, possibly, there would be some components of stakeholdering in the market evolution program line, as well.

849

MS. DeMARCO:
Okay. And there would be nothing in relation to the integration management program?

850

MR. CAMPBELL:
Well, that entry is ‑‑ was 2002, and there would have been, undoubtedly, some stakeholdering costs during the development of the integration management program. That's the program that put the market in place.

851

MS. DeMARCO:
And at the bottom of the page, Mr. Sherkey, the line item entitled "Consumer Education Fund ‑ Expenditures," would that encompass ‑‑

852

MR. SHERKEY:
That is not stakeholdering.

853

MS. DeMARCO:
There would be no stakeholdering involved with that?

854

MR. SHERKEY:
That's correct.

855

MS. DeMARCO:
And moving on to appendix 2, the updated appendix 2, which is OM&A business unit details, which is found at page 40, can you identify any, if any, outline items that would include IESO budgeted or current amounts relating to and including stakeholdering actions?

856

MR. SHERKEY:
I am prepared now to go through that list of the details in each of the business units that would include stakeholdering costs, as per your question.

857

Information technology and infrastructure would include some components of stakeholdering costs, as would market operations and forecasts, market services, corporate and legal affairs, finance, human resources, and although no direct costs on the board of directors, the board of directors historically had stakeholders on it. And to some degree, our chief executive officer as well would, to some degree, have some work on stakeholdering, and market assessment and compliance.

858

MS. DeMARCO:
So virtually all of these line items would have some semblance of a ‑‑ or at least an element of stakeholdering?

859

MR. SHERKEY:
Would have an element, yes.

860

MS. DeMARCO:
Let me just ask: It's my assumption that the itemization of capital project costs in appendix 3 found at page 41 would not include any stakeholdering‑related costs; is that a fair assumption?

861

MR. SHERKEY:
That would be correct.

862

MS. DeMARCO:
And moving on ‑‑

863

MR. CAMPBELL:
Just hold on. I think the ‑‑ what you're seeing us discuss here is simply that, for all of these, you know, looking at these capital projects, there would be various ones where people would ‑‑ employees of the IMO would be booking time to a capital project and would undoubtedly be having conversations with stakeholders. I consider that ‑‑ treating your question most generally, you know, many of these projects would involve stakeholdering expenditures in that sense, that the people who are out talking to stakeholders about various aspects of these projects would be charging time to the project, and that time could be capitalized.

864

MS. DeMARCO:
So in the context of the Board's approval of your fees, expenditures and costs here, a number of line items would include stakeholdering; is that fair?

865

MR. CAMPBELL:
Would include costs that reflect the time that employees spend stakeholdering a particular proposal, yes.

866

MR. KAISER:
How much are you asking us to approve in total?

867

MR. CAMPBELL:
We don't break out stakeholdering in that way. When ‑‑

868

MR. KAISER:
I notice at page 34 of the budget you have 100,000 for the MEP, which I guess is the only piece that's still on the table, because everything else has been agreed to, in any event.

869

MR. CAMPBELL:
And what that entry was, and the next panel will be able to deal with that in a little more detail than I have at my fingertips, but that was one particular person, a resource that was assigned to the MEP program to help organize the stakeholdering. That's what that 100,000 represents.

870

What I was talking about was a little broader than that, when the ME ‑‑ when, for instance, under the ‑‑ under the multi‑interval optimization program, there might have been some time ‑‑ some part of that 100K might have helped with organizing the stakeholdering. But what I was talking about is the people who are actually doing the project, when they go to meetings, working group meetings, where there's three IESO employees and 20 participants in the meeting about how multi‑interval optimization is to be designed, what the issues are around it, the IESO person will charge that time to that project. It may end up in capital, may end up in OM&A, depending how the project evolves.

871

I consider, in trying to respond in the spirit of the question, that's what I consider to be part of stakeholdering expense. At some level it's simply advancing the project, working on the project, but that involves going out, talking to stakeholders about the issues associated with that particular project.

872

MR. KAISER:
Are you actually saying you don't know what the total cost of stakeholdering is?

873

MR. CAMPBELL:
We do not break it out, I don't believe, in that way.

874

MR. KAISER:
How are we supposed to approve a cost when we don't know what it is?

875

MR. CAMPBELL:
It's the cost of the project, and each of the projects will have a component in them which is how ‑‑ it's just how the work gets done. We will describe we're going to have a working group, we'll have IESO employees at working group meetings, and that's how the project advances.

876

MR. KAISER:
You must have some idea, whether it's 100,000 or a million or 5 million?

877

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think the simplest thing, rather than guess, is given that the members of the next panel are here who do ‑‑ are closer to the MEP budgeting, why don't I ask them, as they sit at the back, to think about this. But it is not a cost that we particularly break out, and it's absolutely integral to getting the work done.

878

MR. KAISER:
We're not disputing that. We just want to know what the total cost is.

879

MR. CAMPBELL:
I'm not able to give you anything that I would even identify as a reasonable guess, so I think I'll leave it to the folks who know these numbers better than I do.

880

MR. KAISER:
All right. Mr. Brown, can you use your best efforts to get us a number?

881

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, during the break I'll speak to Mr. Leonard who's here, who's the controller. I think Mr. Campbell is correct, certainly some of the panel members on the next panel dealing with MEP will be able, I think, to give you a ballpark, but I'm not sure whether it will be much more than a ballpark. Let me speak to Mr. Leonard.

882

MR. KAISER:
MEP is just a piece of it; right?

883

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

884

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
That's correct.

885

MR. CAMPBELL:
In terms of all of the stakeholdering that we do, as I say, it's ‑‑ I'm not sure how, given the way some of these things are carried out, how you would assign ‑‑ even how you would assign the costs, but I should ‑‑

886

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Let me speak to Mr. Leonard at the break and I'll report back to you.

887

MS. LITT:
Mr. Chair, is that an undertaking?

888

MR. KAISER:
Yes, thank you.

889

MS. LITT:
H.1.2, an undertaking to file the cost of stakeholdering.

890

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
An undertaking to inquire of Mr. Leonard, the controller of IESO, whether it would be possible ‑‑

891

MR. KAISER:
He's going to use best efforts.

892

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, best efforts.

893

UNDERTAKING NO. H.1.2:
TO INQUIRE OF MR. LEONARD, CONTROLLER OF IESO, WHETHER IT IS POSSIBLE TO FILE THE COST OF STAKEHOLDERING

894

MS. DeMARCO:
Before I move on, can I just clarify your last response, Mr. Campbell? In relation to the capital project costs, itemized on appendix 3 on page 41, they could, in fact, contrary to my assumption, include some stakeholdering costs?

895

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes. And I think I referred to the multi‑interval optimization project, as an example. There was a good deal of stakeholdering work done in developing that project, and those costs would be reflected in the project costs.

896

MS. DeMARCO:
And the same could be said of the IT projects listed on page 42; is that fair? I should say 42 through to 44.

897

MR. CAMPBELL:
Again, what I'd ask is that you just hold that question for Mr. Limbrick on the next panel. I suspect that some of the IT projects ‑‑ we have an IT standing committee, so if these projects were discussed at the IT standing committee, is that stakeholdering? And, if so, then there's, you know ‑‑ then there is a stakeholdering cost in those numbers. And I expect that items of this type are typically discussed at the IT standing committee.

898

MS. DeMARCO:
Would it be fair to say that the stakeholdering costs included in those plethora of line items were based on the current ‑‑ or, are based on the current IESO stakeholdering process?

899

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

900

MS. DeMARCO:
And from your more recent filings, and your comments this morning, is it fair to assume that the IESO is proposing fairly significant changes to its stakeholdering processes?

901

MR. CAMPBELL:
Clearly, Mr. Watts has a number of alternatives out there for discussion. In looking at those alternatives, we haven't looked at them and said we'd need to come back to the Board and ask for additional budget in order to move that. I think what we believe is that some of the stakeholdering alternatives that are there have the potential to be ‑‑ judging by the stakeholdering comments, have the potential, perhaps, to be efficient in getting what everyone wants to get out of stakeholdering.

902

So we've not ‑‑ we don't anticipate, as a result of this exercise, having to ask for increased budget, but all things ‑‑ I guess all things are possible and I shouldn't ‑‑ I shouldn't make any hard assurances that way. But it certainly hadn't ‑‑ it isn't something that we ‑‑ is anywhere in our mind, at the moment.

903

MS. DeMARCO:
Let me clarify the question, which is fairly simple. Is the IESO, or is the IESO not, proposing fairly significant changes to its stakeholdering processes?

904

MR. CAMPBELL:
We haven't proposed any changes yet. If Mr. Watts' recommendations follow along the lines of the working draft ‑‑ working report, then there would be changes. I think one of the things he contemplates there is a more centralized unit to run the stakeholdering, but I think that also has the possibilities of avoiding some costs in other places in the organization, where they're now located. So I think, and I'll ask Mr. Cowbourne to add if he has a different view, but I think to the extent we've even considered it, there doesn't seem to be anything there in what Mr. Watts has proposed that should materially affect the costs.

905

MR. COWBOURNE:
Not a different view, but to add that we recognize some change is required, given that we no longer have stakeholders on the board, as we have had in the past. And, therefore, we need to take that into account in whatever design comes forward.

906

MS. DeMARCO:
So, then, Mr. Cowbourne, would it be fair to say that the IESO is considering significant changes to its stakeholdering process?

907

MR. COWBOURNE:
We recognize that there will be change.

908

MS. DeMARCO:
Mr. Campbell, on direct this morning, you indicated that those changes are a result of both a change in your statutory mandate, a change in the representation on the IESO board, as well as concerns raised by stakeholders. Have I got that correct?

909

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's right. And I think the one element you're missing is, also, just our own assessment of stakeholdering. Those were the drivers.

910

MS. DeMARCO:
Right. And what specific concerns do stakeholders have, or did stakeholders have, about the IESO's current stakeholdering process?

911

MR. CAMPBELL:
Well, we were asked in interrogatory about that. It was ‑‑ I believe it's interrogatory ‑‑ I'll give you the number in a moment. It's interrogatory 11.33. And the question was: Has the IESO received any complaints about the adequacy of the stakeholdering processes?

912

And in there we give a long litany of the ‑‑ of the ‑‑ of comments or complaints that have been made to us. And I think I'd refer you to that list, rather than go through. We tried to make a comprehensive list of the complaints, regardless of how ‑‑ whether it was simply an individual or the position of a complaint that we'd heard from the ‑‑ from an organization. It is ‑‑ we tried to make the list comprehensive.

913

MS. DeMARCO:
My question referred to concerns. Are you treating all concerns as complaints?

914

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think, if people come to you with a concern, that we have not made a distinction between that and a complaint. And, certainly, in asking ‑‑ in answering this question, we made an attempt to be kind of exhaustive about every potential concern and complaint that we had heard.

915

MS. DeMARCO:
And would it be fair to characterize some of those concerns or complaints as including the ability to provide meaningful input?

916

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

917

MS. DeMARCO:
And concerns regarding the reflection of stakeholder views in the comments and IESO decision‑making?

918

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, I think ‑‑ again, I wouldn't ‑‑ in any of these answers, don't take it that I'm suggesting they are universally held, but they are items we have heard from one or more people.

919

MS. DeMARCO:
And concerns regarding the IESO's involvement, as both the stakeholder, administrator and decision‑maker?

920

MR. CAMPBELL:
Well, we heard that raised this morning.

921

MS. DeMARCO:
And any concerns about the timeliness of stakeholder involvement in IESO decisions?

922

MR. CAMPBELL:
We've heard ‑‑ I think we've had concerns expressed to us that we get people involved too early, and too extensively, and we've had concerns that people haven't felt that they've had an adequate opportunity. Most of these cases, you know, whichever end of the spectrum you pick, there's somebody at the other end who would prefer to go it the other way.

923

MS. DeMARCO:
And those concerns are fairly characterized as timeliness ‑‑

924

MR. CAMPBELL:
It's the same both ways.

925

MS. DeMARCO:
‑‑ in the stakeholder involvement.

926

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

927

MS. DeMARCO:
Right. Right. So, in response to those concerns, and other factors, the IESO initiated the Singer and Watts review of the IESO's stakeholdering process; is that correct?

928

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, and the principal person doing that review for us is David Watts.

929

MS. DeMARCO:
Thank you.

930

And I'd now like to ask you my second series of questions, which relate specifically to the IESO process used to change its stakeholdering process and procedures

931

Has the IESO retained Singer and Watts, and/or their people, in the past?

932

MR. CAMPBELL:
I'm sorry?

933

MS. DeMARCO:
Has the IESO retained Singer and Watts, and/or any of their people, in the past?

934

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mr. Watts has done a small amount of work for us in connection with the round tables that we have held and sponsored around the province on ‑‑ particularly with the local distribution companies' participation, and, I guess, principally, loads that are exposed to price but not market participants, although we have had some market participation as well. So a small amount of work there, relatively minor.

935

Mr. Singer has done some work that was done in conjunction with the Ontario Energy Board, and we ‑ that was a retainer from the IMO to work with Ontario Energy Board around planning issues. This followed the report of the energy conservation and supply task force, and we were looking at the issues of what an appropriate planning process would look like. This was before ‑‑ when the task force report came out, it had contemplated that some of that work might fall to the IMO, and it was only ‑‑ of course, the decision was taken subsequently to establish the OPA, but that was a possibility at that time.

936

In fact, I think that work was happening with the assistance of Mr. Singer from ‑‑ who we dealt with, and Dr. Carr was retained by the OEB, if I recall correctly.

937

MS. DeMARCO:
Would it be fair, and this might be a difficult question for you to answer, so I appreciate that if you cannot, but would it be fair to classify the IESO as a significant client of Singer and Watt?

938

MR. CAMPBELL:
I have no idea. We've had ‑‑ I think in terms of the amount of work that we've used that firm for, the ‑‑ Mr. Watts' retainer is certainly, by a margin, the largest retainer that we've used the firm for.

939

I should add, just for the sake of complete disclosure, that Mr. Singer has assisted in some of the witness preparation work for this proceeding as well.

940

MS. DeMARCO:
Prior to finalizing, was the retainer tendered?

941

MR. CAMPBELL:
For the work for the stakeholdering review?

942

MS. DeMARCO:
Yes.

943

MR. CAMPBELL:
No, it wasn't.

944

MS. DeMARCO:
Prior to finalizing the Singer and Watt retainer, did the IESO consider any existing stakeholdering standards or other materials that it would like the consultant to consider?

945

MR. CAMPBELL:
We did not directly consult it in any way as to what Mr. Watts should consider, no.

946

MS. DeMARCO:
So, then, if I could ask you to turn to tab 3 of the compendium of materials that I provided.

947

MR. CAMPBELL:
This is the CSA standard?

948

MS. DeMARCO:
Yes, this is a CSA standard on stakeholdering entitled, "A Guide to Public Involvement," which is dated March 1996.

949

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, I have that in front of me.

950

MS. DeMARCO:
It would be fair, then, to assume that you did not direct the consultant to examine this?

951

MR. CAMPBELL:
No. We were retaining his expertise, we weren't relying on our own.

952

MS. DeMARCO:
So do you know, then, if Singer and Watt did, in fact, consult this leading standard?

953

MR. CAMPBELL:
I don't know whether he consulted this particular standard in considering this matter, but what I can say is when Mr. Cowbourne and I looked over the kinds of questions that are set out as being addressed in the table of contents, certainly a lot of those topic areas are ones that we see Mr. Watts as having addressed at the level of work that he's now engaged in.

954

And in looking into the document, some of it has to do with sort of ‑‑ the different kinds of stakeholder meetings one might hold, for instance. It's really at a very fine execution level, and the discussion in our stakeholder review hasn't reached that stage. But certainly the broad themes of the questions, they sounded ‑‑ they looked to us very much like the kinds of issues that Mr. Watts was addressing.

955

MS. DeMARCO:
And in your response to Mr. Moran and others, you indicated you appear to have some interaction, ongoing interaction, with Mr. Watts. Would it be within the scope of your regular, ongoing interactions to recommend examining such a standard?

956

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think I can certainly ‑‑ I think I can say with confidence that we'll certainly draw this to his attention. He may tell us that he's fully aware of it and, as I say, he's certainly familiar with the kinds of questions and issues that it raises.

957

MS. DeMARCO:
Was the OPA involved at all in retaining Singer and Watt on this stakeholdering initiative?

958

MR. CAMPBELL:
No.

959

MS. DeMARCO:
So this was entirely an IESO initiative and retainer?

960

MR. CAMPBELL:
I'm sorry?

961

MS. DeMARCO:
This was entirely an IESO initiative and retainer?

962

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

963

MS. DeMARCO:
Yet, if I can draw your attention to the working paper, specifically at page 5, the retainer does appear to encompass certain OPA activities; is that fair?

964

MR. CAMPBELL:
Let me back up just a little bit to give you some context for this particular part of it.

965

At our February 23rd Market Advisory Council meeting, one of the themes that had been discussed over the course of the day was the need for coordination between the IESO and the OPA. In fact, Dr. Carr spoke at that meeting and was part of the day's activities. And I think it's fair to say, certainly in my conversations with Dr. Carr, we're quite aware of the fact that we want to be sure that we're not duplicating effort, that we are well coordinated. I think the effective future for both organizations depends on that.

966

But one of the themes that came out in the course of Mr. Watt's portion of the discussion was this need for some coordination of what the market might look like, how it would move forward, what issues needed to be addressed. And a clear sentiment from stakeholders was that there needed to be some coordination between the two organizations around that, and I think both organizations agree.

967

I think Mr. Watts, in looking at this, wanted to take that into account in how this coordination might take place, and he developed this proposal. As a matter of courtesy, I advised Dr. Carr that we would be putting this out, its general nature, but it has no ‑‑ it does not reflect any of the OPA thinking. It reflects Mr. Watts' thinking of an approach to this, and we have provided it to Dr. Carr and, no doubt, over the course of time, he'll be turning his mind to whether he thinks this is a sensible approach from the perspective of his organization.

968

MS. DeMARCO:
Was it you, Mr. Campbell, that provided this to Dr. Carr?

969

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes. When we published it, I personally contacted him to make sure he was aware that we published it. I gave him a heads up, in fact, a couple of days before that we would be doing so, and when it was published, I think it was probably me that sent him the link.

970

MS. DeMARCO:
So can that be indicative of some level of support on your part?

971

MR. CAMPBELL:
I don't think you can ‑‑ I don't think you can assume anything about the OPA's view of this proposal from anything that I've said.

972

MS. DeMARCO:
Certainly, in terms of your actions in contacting Dr. Carr, making him aware of the specific elements of the proposal, may reflect some level of support on your part.

973

MR. CAMPBELL:
No, it was done as a courtesy so that he was fully aware of this and wouldn't get surprised by it. It was really no more than that.

974

MS. DeMARCO:
You did edit other matters out of the proposal?

975

MR. CAMPBELL:
The proposal ‑‑ the draft, when it came to us initially, had a small section on the technical panel, and it seemed that ‑‑ and I raised the question with Mr. Watts as to whether that section really was consistent with the focus of this particular paper. And having considered the matter, he made the decision that the paper could proceed the way it is.

976

But clearly in raising the matter, I was raising a question as to whether, given that the technical panel already had a very well‑defined structure that's in the governance and structure bylaw, whether it wasn't, in effect, distracting from the main focus of this paper, which was to get some options out for our kind of ongoing stakeholdering processes. It doesn't preclude any discussion of the technical panel, but in the end, Mr. Watts put the report out in this format.

977

MS. DeMARCO:
You indicated, Mr. Campbell, and is it fair to say that Mr. Watts' retainer is somewhat open‑ended?

978

MR. CAMPBELL:
I never give anybody an open‑ended retainer, but this one is more of that type than most. I mean, we want his expertise and his advice. And, to some extent, the process that we've launched him on can't be perfectly defined, because we can't define in advance the amount of stakeholder interest there's going to be, how many comments he's going to get, whether he has to cycle through again.

979

We want a good report that takes into account stakeholder views, and makes well‑considered recommendations to our board. And I am not going to compromise that objective unduly, due to cost. And this is not an invitation for Mr. Watts just to do whatever he wants on the project. He has a good focus on where he needs to go. But if he came to me and said, We're ‑‑ I'm exceeding ‑‑ I may exceed the budget, I'd say, By how much? I'd ask all the usual questions. But if it appeared to me pertinent to getting a good result, it's the good result I want here.

980

MS. DeMARCO:
And you've anticipated my next question. Is he on a fixed budget or fixed retainer?

981

MR. CAMPBELL:
It's not a fixed contract amount. I have allocated in my budget an amount for it, and I hope it will cover it. But if I have to adjust it slightly, to get the result that we need here, I will.

982

MS. DeMARCO:
One minor clarification question, if you could proceed to page 5 of the working paper.

983

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mm‑hm.

984

MS. DeMARCO:
The fourth bullet down refers to ESAC?

985

MR. CAMPBELL:
It's the Electricity Sector Forum, which is that joint forum at the bottom of the diagram.

986

MS. DeMARCO:
So can I just clarify that that is, in fact, a typo, because the Electricity Sector Forum elsewhere is defined as the ESF?

987

MR. CAMPBELL:
Oh, yes, that's definitely a typo. I'm sorry, I was looking at the wrong thing. Yes, that's definitely a typo. It should be ESF.

988

MS. DeMARCO:
Thank you.

989

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think that's one of the clarifications that we ‑‑ in looking at this, there was ‑‑ I think it was ‑‑ it was also going to be called a committee, and we were getting our committees mixed up. So the Electricity Sector Forum was the name that Mr. Watts landed on for that bottom group. And I think what happened here is, perhaps, it's just ‑‑ it just didn't get picked up in the changes.

990

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Just so I'm clear about this, we're talking about the fourth bullet on page 5 of the exhibit, and it's that last sentence that says "ESAC Agendas"?

991

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes. It should read "ESF Agendas."

992

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
It's not "Electricity Stakeholder Advisory Committee"?

993

MR. CAMPBELL:
No, I think it's ‑‑ given that the point is dealing with the Electricity Sector Forum, it's saying that the agendas for that forum would be created jointly by the chairs, prior to the meetings. I think it is ESF, for certain.

994

The acronym ‑‑ we're an acronym‑laden industry and company. The acronym for the other committee ‑‑ if you look over at the top, the first bullet on page 6 is ACBE, so that's the other committee, at the higher level here. I think that this was just an edit that needed to be made.

995

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Thank you.

996

MS. DeMARCO:
Thank you, Mr. Campbell.

997

Now, just moving on, slightly, for a few questions on the substance of what's being proposed in the report. As I understand it ‑ and please correct me, if I've got it wrong ‑ the substantive requirements in the report include both a series of stakeholder engagement principles ‑‑

998

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

999

MS. DeMARCO:
‑‑ is that fair?

1000

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

1001

MS. DeMARCO:
‑‑ and three main stakeholder engagement frameworks?

1002

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's right. Mr. Watts developed those principles, and three frameworks within which those principles would be applied.

1003

MS. DeMARCO:
And is it fair to say that the three frameworks are not to be mutually exclusive, ut rather operate in tandem with each other?

1004

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think the frameworks are put out as options.

1005

MS. DeMARCO:
Okay. Can I ask you to turn to page 4, then. And under the section 4(1) there are three bullets. Do I understand correctly that each framework applies to each of the three bulleted types of decisions?

1006

MR. CAMPBELL:
No, I don't believe so. I think the first framework, which was the diagram we were looking at with the OPA, is the framework related to bullet 1.

1007

MS. DeMARCO:
Right.

1008

MR. CAMPBELL:
And then there are frameworks related to IESO policy and planning decisions, and then frameworks ‑‑ a framework ‑‑ I think, two frameworks relating to ‑‑ yeah, there are three options for implementation initiative decisions.

1009

MS. DeMARCO:
So is it fair to say, then, framework 1, framework 2 and one of framework 3, (a), (b) or (c) are meant to operate simultaneously?

1010

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes. Yes, that's right. And if I confused that issue before, I apologize. But there are three choices at the back end for the implementation items.

1011

MS. DeMARCO:
And is it fair to say, then, that if these changes are implemented, one can anticipate, at least, changes in the budgeted amount and possibly increased expenses?

1012

MR. CAMPBELL:
It's possible. But I think, as I said earlier, from what we've seen here, I don't think we would anticipate any increased level of expenditures arising from this. I think at the moment, as we look at it, we think it can be implemented in the current ‑‑ within the current envelope of expenditures that we have.

1013

That doesn't mean that we don't have to move some things around at the edges, but we would hope ‑‑ that would certainly be our objective, let me put it that way.

1014

MS. DeMARCO:
And it's difficult to tell specifically, is it correct, because we don't have stakeholder costs broken out?

1015

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's certainly true.

1016

MS. DeMARCO:
Now, Mr. Campbell, can I have you refer to tab 2 of the compendium of materials, which is an article by a former Board Member, Judy Simon, entitled "Effective Public Participation, Some Whys and Hows for Regulators."

1017

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

1018

MS. DeMARCO:
And, specifically, page 2 of that article has a section entitled "What is Meaningful Input?"

1019

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

1020

MS. DeMARCO:
And the first bullet indicates that "consultation must take place before making irreversible decision" ‑ should be "decisions" ‑ "regarding the matter being considered."

1021

Is that fair?

1022

MR. CAMPBELL:
I see that point, yes.

1023

MS. DeMARCO:
Can you tell me where in the working paper that principle is reflected, if at all?

1024

MR. CAMPBELL:
I would see it, certainly, as being part of ‑‑ in the principles, for instance, principle number 2 is: "The IESO will provide meaningful and timely opportunities for stakeholders to provide input into decision‑making."

1025

MS. DeMARCO:
So the timeliness and the lack of irreversibility of a decision would be incorporated in that principle, in your opinion?

1026

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes. The whole point of the review is to develop a process that will provide for timely input into decision‑makings, by definition, before decisions are finalized.

1027

MS. DeMARCO:
And before funds are spent; is that fair?

1028

MR. CAMPBELL:
There's going to be some funds spent on projects in the course of getting to the point where reasonable positions can be taken, either by intervenors or by ourselves, so I can't say that this ‑‑ that stakeholdering itself, and the process of looking at a project will, undoubtedly, result in some funds being expended.

1029

MS. DeMARCO:
Is it fair to say significant funds? Is it fair to say before significant funds are spent, Mr. Campbell?

1030

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think in terms of, for instance, MEP proposals, we have a proposal that we'll be discussing in the next panel. In terms of other areas of stakeholdering activity, our hope is that stakeholdering can help in eliminating less attractive options earlier and focussing on solutions to issues earlier and with broader support amongst the stakeholder community. I think if we achieve that objective, it should, I think, be a very cost‑effective process.

1031

MS. DeMARCO:
So in terms of implementing the ethos of the principle, would it be your opinion that significant funds would not be spent prior to stakeholdering activities?

1032

MR. CAMPBELL:
We'll be stakeholdering anything of any significance in these things. We will be stakeholdering right from the beginning. So the stakeholdering expense ‑‑ I mean, it's in part why I was ‑‑ why I think I was somewhat flummoxed by the Chair's question, is it's a way of doing work. That's the ethos we're getting to here. It's integral to the way we go work, it's just part of day‑to‑day work for matters that are being stakeholdered. I think that's the attitude we bring to it.

1033

MS. DeMARCO:
Would it be fair to characterize it as a check and balance on the IESO activities?

1034

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think someone might characterize it that way. I wouldn't. I think it's a healthy discussion with our stakeholders on matters that, either from our perspective or their perspective, need attention in the markets and services that we're providing.

1035

MS. DeMARCO:
Thank you.

1036

Referring to the second bullet of the same paragraph, it says: "Stakeholders must be consulted to determine what issues they would like to be consulted on and how they would like the consultation effort to be structured."

1037

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mm‑hm.

1038

MS. DeMARCO:
Can you point to me where in the document that would be reflected, where in the working paper that would be reflected?

1039

MR. CAMPBELL:
I haven't tried to map these all against the principles, but I think, as stated there, it certainly is consistent with the philosophy that I read in Mr. Watts' report. And if you hold a minute, I'll see if I can find something that just maps directly on there.

1040

MR. KAISER:
Appendix A, Mr. Campbell, isn't that a summary of the stakeholder views?

1041

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes. I took the question, though, as referring particularly to the principles that are in page 3 and 4 of the report.

1042

Without, sort of, carefully trying to map this back and forth, let me just back up. As you heard Mr. Cowbourne in his direct, stakeholdering now, and I do not anticipate this changing, provides the opportunity for stakeholders to bring issues to the table. They are not ‑‑ we do not limit our stakeholdering only to things that are initiated by the IESO. That's never been the case, it won't be the case going forward.

1043

MS. DeMARCO:
Thank you.

1044

And then one last question, it's a point of clarification. In your direct evidence, Mr. Campbell, you indicated that the outcome of the stakeholdering process that you are undertaking would be the processing of options for the board to look at.

1045

MR. CAMPBELL:
It's the board that has to make the decision on the process to be adopted, at least at the high level, in any event.

1046

MS. DeMARCO:
Can I just clarify, in saying that, you were referring to the IESO board?

1047

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

1048

MS. DeMARCO:
And not the Ontario Energy Board; is that correct?

1049

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, I was referring to the IESO board and its ‑‑ in several aspects, and we want to do that because it no longer includes stakeholders and because there is that statutory obligation on it to put such processes in place.

1050

MS. DeMARCO:
So, in fact, the process scoped out in the working paper has all final decisions regarding stakeholder process resting with the IESO board; is that correct?

1051

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think the stakeholder ‑‑ the high‑level design of the stakeholdering process is something that the board has to be comfortable with because it has the obligation, so it gets to make the call.

1052

MS. DeMARCO:
And, again, referring to the IESO board.

1053

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct.

1054

MS. DeMARCO:
And what, if any, role does the IESO executive believe the Ontario Energy Board should play in reviewing the proposed changes and expenditures associated with the stakeholdering process?

1055

MR. CAMPBELL:
Well, I think since all of our activities ‑‑ not all of our activities but a great many of our activities involve stakeholdering as a way of engaging the stakeholder community of issues that are of interest to them, it's entirely appropriate for the Board to look at it ‑‑ look at that in the context of our expenditures. And it will want to be sure that the expenditures in this area, as in other areas, are subjected to appropriate review.

1056

MS. DeMARCO:
And that includes both the quantum and the activities underpinning the quantum of expenditures; is that fair?

1057

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think in the same sense as the Board, this Board, has oversight of our revenue requirements and expenditures in all areas of our business, I think in that sense the answer is yes.

1058

MS. DeMARCO:
Thank you. Those are my questions.

1059

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

1060

Mr. Stephenson?

1061

MR. STEPHENSON:
Thank you, Mr. Chair. I have two questions.

1062

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. STEPHENSON:

1063

MR. STEPHENSON:
I will be very brief. Can I get you to turn up interrogatory 4.4 from OPG. It's the list of stakeholders. You may not even need to turn it up. My question is a simple one and that is: Do you consider my client, the PWU, the representative of one of your employee groups, to be a stakeholder within the meaning of that document?

1064

MR. CAMPBELL:
Absolutely.

1065

MR. STEPHENSON:
My next question, Mr. Campbell, is you were asked this morning by my friend Mr. Warren about the fact that the ultimate decision on matters within the authority of the IESO board of directors, of course, is with the members of that board. And even in a case where a consensus has been reached as a result of the stakeholdering process, at the end of the day, the IESO board may or may not follow that consensus; correct?

1066

MR. CAMPBELL:
That's correct. They have an independent obligation as directors.

1067

MR. STEPHENSON:
And that's exactly what I was getting at. The reason for that is because, as members of the board of directors under the statute and otherwise at law, they've got specific legal obligations, fiduciary obligations and other obligations to make decisions in the best interests of the company; correct?

1068

MR. CAMPBELL:
Consistent with their obligations under the statute, yes.

1069

MR. STEPHENSON:
And they are accountable for those decisions in their capacity as members of the board; correct?

1070

MR. CAMPBELL:
Absolutely, and certainly in ‑‑ as part of the management team that presents to and interacts with ‑‑ has interacted with their board of directors that had both independent and stakeholder members, they take that obligation seriously.

1071

MR. STEPHENSON:
In fact, it would be improper for the members of the board to simply sign off, so to speak, on a decision where consensus had been reached through a stakeholder process without them having undertaken an independent assessment of that decision; correct?

1072

MR. CAMPBELL:
They have to turn their mind to the merits of the proposals that are put in front of them, and what they see as their strengths and weaknesses. And I would expect that full consensus ‑ which would mean absolute agreement among everybody involved in the process, and IESO management ‑ would be a persuasive factor. It may not be a sufficient factor all by itself.

1073

MR. STEPHENSON:
Right. They can be informed by that consensus, they can be influenced by that consensus, but no consensus can be determinative. Correct?

1074

MR. CAMPBELL:
No consensus can relieve them of their obligations as directors.

1075

MR. STEPHENSON:
Thank you.

1076

Those are my questions.

1077

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

1078

Mr. Adams?

1079

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you, Mr. Chair. OPG has no questions for this witness panel.

1080

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Adams?

1081

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS:

1082

MR. ADAMS:
I apologize, I have a very few questions, and I'd invite any members of the panel that wish to respond to please pipe up.

1083

The only area that I want to canvass with questions is benchmarking ISO performance, as now is ongoing through the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission in the United States.

1084

I wonder if the panel would accept the proposition that, as a starting point, while there may be differences of view amongst the parties that have taken an interest in this matter of benchmarking ISO performance, there appears to be a consensus about the importance of the ‑‑ of benchmarking, and the value that may arise through the FERC process, when it is completed. I think there is ‑‑ would you accept that there's a view that this is an important process, that, generally, parties here endorse?

1085

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

1086

MR. ADAMS:
Is there ‑‑ I appreciate that the IESO has interactions with the FERC on a number of levels, in response to many of the issues that are ongoing there that are of concern to the IESO, but has the IESO brought to the attention of the FERC this consensus that we have here in Ontario, about the importance of their process for us, not just for the IESO but also interested stakeholders?

1087

MR. CAMPBELL:
Mr. Adams, I'm not sure that we have communicated that exactly. But I am quite aware that the FERC generally pays a lot of attention when we participate in one of their processes. They've made many public statements about this, and I am confident that they have taken note of the fact that we are part of the group that is recommending a format for these uniform statement of accounts. It would be completely consistent, and they would recognize that Ontario, therefore, is taking an active interest in this matter.

1088

What I can't tell you ‑‑ I don't know, for instance, whether Mr. Goulding has raised it ‑‑ raised this matter, in particular, in any discussions with FERC members. That's the only ‑‑ he may well have. I just don't know that, of my own knowledge.

1089

MR. ADAMS:
Is there anything that this Board might do to strengthen the IESO's hand in its dealings with FERC, in terms of encouraging a timely completion of their work, or a complete scope of work, satisfactory to the needs of this process?

1090

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think if this Board was to express those views, we would certainly carry them to the FERC.

1091

MR. ADAMS:
As, for example, it might, in its decision in this case.

1092

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

1093

MR. ADAMS:
It might make some comments.

1094

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, I sort of assumed that's what you were positing to me.

1095

MR. ADAMS:
I'm just wondering if the IESO interacts with its interested stakeholders in a number of forums, like, for example, the Regulatory Affairs Standing Committee, and also the MAC. I'm familiar, from my experience in MAC participation, that, on occasion, IESO brings to the attention of the MAC developments that are going on at the FERC that are relevant to interests of the stakeholders, generally, here.

1096

I wonder if the same is the case with regard to the Regulatory Affairs Standing Committee. Has the IESO informed stakeholders, through the Regulatory Affairs Standing Committee, about developments at the FERC?

1097

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes. Not simply developments at FERC, matters that are relevant at the Department of Energy. We were involved with U.S. ‑‑ with OPG in some U.S. litigation, sort of attacking the Ontario market at its fundamentals. We discussed that at the Regulatory Affairs Standing Committee. So, yes, we do not limit this to discussions of the rate case. It's seen as a forum for general discussion of things that either the IESO is involved in, or that we think participants might want to be aware of.

1098

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you very much.

1099

Those are my questions.

1100

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Adams.

1101

Mr. Lyle, do you have any questions?

1102

MR. LYLE:
I just have a couple of questions, Mr. Chair.

1103

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. LYLE:

1104

MR. LYLE:
Mr. Campbell, I want to take you back to a discussion you had with Mr. Brown this morning. You were talking a little bit about the time lines for developing your new stakeholdering process. I believe you expressed a concern that the failure to have a new IESO board appointed at this point in time may raise a concern with respect to these time lines. Is that a fair characterization?

1105

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think I acknowledged that I couldn't answer the question Mr. Brown asked me in specific terms, because we are awaiting the appointment of the new independent board. And I have no ability to control that timing, nor does anyone else at the IESO. And, in fact, as it turns out, we have remarkably poor ability to predict it.

1106

MR. LYLE:
Fair enough.

1107

If I could take you to Exhibit G, tab 4, schedule 3, which is the slide deck prepared by Mr. Watts, that Mr. Janigan referred to earlier.

1108

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes.

1109

MR. LYLE:
And take you to page 3 of that slide deck. Down at the bottom of the page, it indicates, at the time the slide deck was prepared, that you were looking to May or June to take the new process to the IESO board for approval and implementation. Let's assume, for a moment, that you get your fondest wish and the IESO board is appointed in the near future. Is that a time line you could still meet, under that circumstance?

1110

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think we're trying to, yes. We would try to.

1111

MR. LYLE:
Okay.

1112

MR. CAMPBELL:
Not knowing what the dates are, where the tolerances are, are going to be much more determined by making sure that we allow appropriate time for the comment, and so on, periods, that I described as steps in the process toward a board decision on this matter.

1113

MR. LYLE:
And there's going to be some backlog also, I assume, once your new board is appointed, in terms of getting things to that new board, I take it?

1114

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think in terms of, you know, substantive matters that we're asking them for decisions on, the management team feels this is pretty high priority. So the question is, at what point, from the day of their appointment until they're sort of comfortable taking on substantive matters ‑‑ there will be some period there where, I'm sure, they'll want to take some time getting up to speed, but it will be controlled a little bit by who they are, and what kind of time, if any, they want.

1115

So I can't give a hard time line. I think the important thing is, A, ‑‑ well, two important things. First, the management team views this as a priority; and secondly, even with that, we have to be sure that there's adequate time given for comments from the stakeholder community that we're engaging in this process.

1116

MR. LYLE:
But at this point in time, though, you have no reason to believe that you can't provide that adequate time and still meet the June timetable, in terms of getting this to the IESO board, if there is such a board at that time?

1117

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think that's right, but at some point along this string, it's going not the only view of this. The stakeholders are going to be involved in this, too.

1118

MR. LYLE:
Understood. Just one final question. Have you had any thoughts at this point in time as to whether any of the possible changes to your stakeholdering process might necessitate amendments to the market rules?

1119

MR. CAMPBELL:
I don't think we've seen anything that we've said, Oh, that would require a market rule amendment. If the motion came along that somehow did, I don't think that would rule it out, but I don't think we've seen any of that ‑‑ seen anything where we looked at it and said, this would require a market rule amendment as yet.

1120

So I don't anticipate ‑‑ I mean, speaking, again, given where we are in the project, I'm not anticipating that market rule amendments are necessary in order to put a new stakeholdering process in place.

1121

MR. LYLE:
Thank you. Those are all my questions, Mr. Chair.

1122

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Lyle.

1123

Any re‑examination, Mr. Brown?

1124

RE‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DAVID M. BROWN:

1125

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Just one question which, perhaps, Mr. Campbell, I could direct to you. It came from the cross‑examination of my friend Mr. Rodger.

1126

During the course of his questioning on the issue of stakeholdering, to my ear, you seemed to say that if the underlying problem was a reliability problem, that the IESO would have to address that problem. And you seemed to, to my ear, to be distinguishing reliability problems from other problems.

1127

Did I hear that correctly in terms of your emphasis?

1128

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think the point I was trying to make, and I may have made it too narrowly, is that there are things that we have an obligation to do. And if there's something going wrong with something that is part of our core obligations assigned to us under the legislation, then I think we're going to have to move ahead and fix that problem. That's why there's such a thing as an urgent rule amendment process. There's just things of an operational nature as well.

1129

So I don't think we can just sit back and say we have no special obligation. We do have some specific statutory obligations that we have to carry out.

1130

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And do you see stakeholdering, the stakeholdering process, differing if the issue is a reliability one versus stakeholdering, if the issue is a non‑reliability one?

1131

MR. CAMPBELL:
I don't think there's ‑‑ where we're taking an issue for stakeholdering, there's a fundamental difference in what we want. We want ‑‑ we want people to understand the issue, we want them to engage with us in working out solutions to those issues, and we want to do that in efficient way that makes the best use of stakeholder time.

1132

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you, Mr. Campbell.

1133

Mr. Chair, that's my re‑examination.

1134

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Brown.

1135

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

1136

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Mr. Sherkey, did I understand you to say that you had realigned your accounting practice, to some extent, to conform with the USA program favoured by FERC?

1137

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes, we had to do that, because under the jurisdiction of FERC, we've never been subject to the system of ‑‑

1138

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
The answer is yes.

1139

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes, we had to do that in order to submit our information.

1140

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
And in doing that, did you undertake that alignment with a particular format of USA? That is to say, in the notice of inquiry, FERC mentions that there are, you know, three or four different options for allocation of accounts.

1141

Did you use a particular format when you were ‑‑

1142

MR. SHERKEY:
We used the one and are using the one that was submitted. The one that was submitted by all of the ISO and RTOs with its recommendations and so forth. So there are some recommended changes, for example, that don't exist under the existing uniform system of accounts. All of that has been reclassified in our company in order to submit that information.

1143

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Is that part of a general rationalization among the ISOs of how those accounts ought to line up?

1144

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

1145

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
So your alignment was done, in effect, in concert with a general alignment of ISOs with respect to account in their subject ‑‑

1146

MR. SHERKEY:
That's correct.

1147

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Thank you.

1148

The other thing that's noted in the notice of inquiry is there are a number of issues that are broached in the notice of inquiry. Not all of them are related to this benchmark issue.

1149

MR. SHERKEY:
That's correct.

1150

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Some of them relate to ‑‑ even stakeholder participation, so the extent that budgets ought to be determined by stakeholders, as well as incentives that may be appropriate to place within reach of ISOs.

1151

Do you have any sense of the staging of the FERC report to deal with the accounting issues, these ‑‑ and I'll characterize all the other issues as kind of ancillary issues. Do you know if there's a staging approach?

1152

MR. SHERKEY:
I'm not aware of a staging approach, no.

1153

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
You can see that some of those other issues have a completely different content and may have a completely different context for them, but as we speak today, you don't have a sense that FERC is approaching them either discreetly or according to different timetables or anything of that nature?

1154

MR. SHERKEY:
I couldn't comment on that.

1155

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Thank you.

1156

MR. VLAHOS:
Mr. Sherkey, just ‑‑ I only have one question, and you're the person.

1157

I'm going to move fast‑forward, that the FERC exercise is complete and all the ISOs are on board, so the US of A, the universal system of accounts, is operational. So you start operating this.

1158

MR. SHERKEY:
Correct.

1159

MR. VLAHOS:
That's the fast forward. Now I want to look at the use of this in this room. There are different mandates within the ISOs, there are different operational constructs, there are different functions.

1160

How do you see this play in this room in terms of ‑‑ if I can compare to Ontario's ISO with another ISO?

1161

MR. SHERKEY:
Where it goes is a report that will not only have these cost‑drivers, various baskets of costs and so forth, where there are functions that are similar and they can be compared to the extent that they are similar, and where they're not, where they're different, they would be disclosed. So there's also a context through which all of this is understood.

1162

I hope that answers the question. So there are certain things that, for example, one ISO may or may not be doing compared to others. To the extent that that doesn't exist with some, that should be written up so that those stakeholders who are reading any of this information can read it in the context that makes some sense and can draw some reasonable conclusions as to how efficient one is or how effective a certain ISO is in doing certain functions.

1163

It also can be used by ISOs, for example, if one of the ISOs has gone towards a certain market mechanism and that is clearly spelled out in the report and clearly understood, it's used as a benchmark. So not only can it be used internally in terms of getting costs assessed internally, but can be used as a benchmark upon which to see if those costs that are being amassed, say here in Ontario, are reasonable.

1164

MR. VLAHOS:
So you will have the regulator, or the parties in this proceeding will have the data for Ontario's ISO and would be able to compare with the ‑‑ with all the other ISOs in a aggregate basis or on a one‑to‑one basis?

1165

MR. SHERKEY:
Well, the intent, of course, is to do that and disclose each of the information separately, so that there are nine ISO RTOs that are included and each one of us would be spelled out and compared against the others. So it would be quite comprehensive.

1166

MR. VLAHOS:
Which leads me today to my last question and that is: The agreement that has been filed in this proceeding includes some provisions for confidentiality, and I wasn't sure to what extent those confidentiality provisions would inhibit the testing of evidence in public forums like this. Can you help me with this?

1167

MR. CAMPBELL:
I think the objective ‑‑ I think the last of the recitals of the agreement makes it quite clear that the objective of this is to have a report that would allow a public comparison of the costs and therefore for it to be tested in a proceeding like this. I think it would apply both with respect to the dollars that are put into each basket, and with respect to the functions, because there ‑‑ even with these baskets well‑defined, it will be important to understand what the precise differences are between the functions that each ISO carries out under that basket.

1168

So I think both of those aspects ‑‑ the goal is to have those ‑‑ that information available publically, and therefore ‑‑ so that it can be tested. And I think understanding the functions is every bit as important as the numbers. And I suspect that, if the world unfolds the way we hope it will, and we have a good, solid report on this, that you will have quite a bit of discussion of that in front of you, of both items, both the functions and the dollars.

1169

MR. VLAHOS:
So the agreement itself did contemplate the provision of that information and public testing? So that's how it's been designed?

1170

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, it's one of the ‑‑ if you look at the recitals in the agreement, the last recital speaks to the goal being to have a public report that was consistent on these items.

1171

MR. VLAHOS:
Thank you.

1172

Those are my questions, panel.

1173

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Sherkey, just continuing on with the agreement that is being referred to. The one we have isn't signed. Is there a signed agreement?

1174

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

1175

MR. KAISER:
Do you have any problem with making that available, as part of the record?

1176

MR. SHERKEY:
Absolutely none.

1177

MS. LITT:
Is that an undertaking, sir?

1178

MR. KAISER:
Yes.

1179

MS. LITT:
That will be Undertaking H 1.3.

1180

UNDERTAKING NO. H.1.3:
TO PROVIDE A SIGNED COPY OF THE AGREEMENT

1181

MR. KAISER:
And do I understand from your evidence this morning that, in fact, no data has been provided pursuant to this agreement?

1182

MR. SHERKEY:
No, that's not correct. We have been providing data.

1183

MR. KAISER:
To the other parties, to the other signatories?

1184

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

1185

MR. KAISER:
Before the FERC process started?

1186

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes, before that process, Mr. Kaiser, we were collecting that.

1187

MR. KAISER:
When did you sign this agreement?

1188

MR. SHERKEY:
Would have been May. My recollection would be May of 2004.

1189

MR. KAISER:
And FERC came along in September of '04?

1190

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

1191

MR. KAISER:
And at that point you stopped any activity pursuant to the ‑‑

1192

MR. SHERKEY:
That's correct, and focused on the notice of inquiry.

1193

MR. KAISER:
Now, the FERC notice of inquiry provided for comments in November of '04. Did you file comments?

1194

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes, we did. We filed comments twice: Once in November and then a supplemental in March.

1195

MR. KAISER:
Are those part of this record?

1196

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

1197

MR. KAISER:
Now, one of the matters that FERC asked for comments on, and this is under section C, paragraph 2 ‑ this was as to how rates, RTO and ISO rates, should be reviewed ‑ they asked respondents to comment on whether a "best practices" or a benchmark approach, where one RTO or ISO's expenditures in a particular cost category compared with another, would be sufficient.

1198

Did you comment on that issue at all?

1199

MR. SHERKEY:
I can't recall exactly the information that was filed, but there was information filed on that point.

1200

MR. KAISER:
What is your position on benchmarking ‑‑ or, at least, what did you tell the FERC? Do you think that's a useful process for the purpose of rate review?

1201

MR. SHERKEY:
I can't recall, Mr. Kaiser, the consensus in discussing that. I can speak for the IESO in terms of the importance that benchmarking has, in terms of rates, rate designs, as well as a management tool for ourselves, including our board of directors, in terms of managing the affairs of the company.

1202

So there's no question from our perspective, using benchmarking and using that as a very important management tool, absolutely.

1203

MR. KAISER:
I understand as a management tool, but do you think it's useful for reviewing rates?

1204

MR. SHERKEY:
Yes.

1205

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

1206

Thank you, gentlemen.

1207

Thank you, Mr. Brown.

1208

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

1209

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Brown, if it's convenient with you, we'll take the afternoon break now and ‑‑

1210

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, that would be fine.

1211

MR. KAISER:
‑‑ come back. I think we're intending to sit until about 4:30, if that's acceptable.

1212

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
That's fine, sir.

1213

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 3:30 p.m.

1214

‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:45 p.m.

1215

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

1216

MS. LITT:
Mr. Chair, before we begin, I need to make a correction. The undertaking that was entered, the first undertaking given today, I incorrectly gave an exhibit number. It should actually be Undertaking H.1.1. I think the characterization of it would be, "The IESO undertakes to file the letter of agreement between Mr. Watts and the IESO."

1217

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Correct.

1218

MS. LITT:
Thank you.

1219

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

1220

Mr. Brown, do you want to proceed with your next panel?

1221

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Yes, if I could, please, Mr. Chair. One of the members, Mr. Campbell, was on the previous one, but if I could ask for the other three to be sworn or affirmed.

1222

INDEPENDENT ELECTRICITY SYSTEM OPERATOR ‑ PANEL 2; CAMPBELL, MURPHY LIMBRICK, KULA:


1223

B.CAMPBELL; Previously Sworn.

1224

P.MURPHY; Sworn.

1225

W.LIMBRICK; Sworn.

1226

L.KULA; Sworn.

1227

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you, Mr. Chair. I've given four staff copies of the curriculum vitae for Mr. Paul Murray, Mr. Bill Limbrick, and Mr. Len Kula. Perhaps they could be assigned exhibit numbers.

1228

MS. LITT:
Exhibit I.1.7, CV of Len Kula; Exhibit I.1.8, CV of William Limbrick; and Exhibit I.1.9, the CV of Paul Murphy.

1229

EXHIBIT NO. I.1.7:
CURRICULUM VITAE OF LEONDARD KULA

1230

EXHIBIT NO. I.1.8:
CURRICULUM VITAE OF WILLIAM LIMBRICK

1231

EXHIBIT NO. I.1.9:
CURRICULUM VITAE OF PAUL MURPHY

1232

EXAMINATION BY MR. DAVID M. BROWN:

1233

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you.

1234

Mr. Murphy, since you're closest to the panel, why don't I start with you. You are at the present time the chief operating officer, market operations and forecasts.

1235

MR. MURPHY:
Correct.

1236

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
You came into that position in 2000.

1237

MR. MURPHY:
Yes, I did.

1238

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And prior to that point in time you were the vice‑president of corporate and market development for the IESO.

1239

MR. MURPHY:
I was.

1240

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Prior to joining the IMO in its formation in 1999, as we can see from your CV, you held a number of senior positions with Ontario Hydro, which you joined back in 1997.

1241

MR. MURPHY:
I joined Ontario Hydro in 1977.

1242

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Sorry, 1977. I have a problem the numbers. As part of your employment with Ontario Hydro, I note in the resume that when you were in the power system operations division, you did provide some expert testimony at various OEB hearings into Ontario Hydro.

1243

MR. MURPHY:
Yes, I did.

1244

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
In terms of your current function, sir, as the COO of market operations and forecast, you manage the operation ‑‑ you're responsible for managing the operation of competitive market?

1245

MR. MURPHY:
Yes, I am.

1246

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
You direct the operation of the grid, forecast and assess resource transmission adequacy and development, and administer contracts and operating agreements?

1247

MR. MURPHY:
I do.

1248

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
You used to be the chair of the IESO technical panel, the position that Mr. Cowbourne now holds?

1249

MR. MURPHY:
That's correct.

1250

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And I note from your CV that you're the vice‑chair of the Northeast Power Coordinating Council Reliability Coordinating Committee, and you also sit on the NERC operating committee.

1251

MR. MURPHY:
That's correct.

1252

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
The prefiled evidence that the IESO filed in this hearing, Mr. Murphy, was the 2005 to 2007 business plan. Were you involved in the preparation of that document?

1253

MR. MURPHY:
Yes, I was.

1254

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Do you adopt that evidence as your own?

1255

MR. MURPHY:
I do.

1256

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
A number of interrogatory responses were prepared and filed by the ISO. Were you involved in that process?

1257

MR. MURPHY:
Yes, I was.

1258

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Do those IRs in which you were involved bear your name?

1259

MR. MURPHY:
Yes.

1260

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And you adopt that evidence as your own?

1261

MR. MURPHY:
I do.

1262

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Limbrick, if I could turn to you, please. Sir, you are the vice‑president, information technology and infrastructure of the IESO?

1263

MR. LIMBRICK:
I am.

1264

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
You initially came to the IESO not as an employee of the IESO but as a consultant to the IESO.

1265

MR. LIMBRICK:
That's correct.

1266

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And you were one of the PriceWaterhouseCoopers consultants that were engaged by the IMO to assist it, and essentially to get the IT structure for market opening in place; correct?

1267

MR. LIMBRICK:
Correct.

1268

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And partway through that process in 2001, you joined the IMO and you joined as the VP of information technology and infrastructure.

1269

MR. LIMBRICK:
Yes.

1270

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, your resume sets out a number of the previous engagements in which you were involved and they included working in other energy projects, such as the Scottish settlements, Polish Wessex Water, and on the railway side, the Polish state railways, and these were all information technology projects related to those undertakings?

1271

MR. LIMBRICK:
Yes, they were.

1272

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
In terms of your current duties, sir, as the vice‑president, information technology and infrastructure, page 3 of your CV details a lot of the work that you do. In terms of the projects in which you're involved, could you please describe what role and responsibility you have for the day‑ahead market and the resource adequacy market initiatives.

1273

MR. LIMBRICK:
I'm a member of the steering committee which oversees those projects, along with the other VPs.

1274

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Have you been involved with the market evolution program since their inception back in, I think it was, late 2002 or early 2003?

1275

MR. LIMBRICK:
It was late 2002 and I was.

1276

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, you were involved, sir, to some degree, in the preparation of the ISOs 2005 to 2007 business plan.

1277

MR. LIMBRICK:
Yes.

1278

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And you adopt that evidence as your own?

1279

MR. LIMBRICK:
I do.

1280

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Similarly, you were involved in the preparation of some of the information responses filed in this proceeding?

1281

MR. LIMBRICK:
Yes.

1282

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And you adopt that evidence as your own, to the extent you're identified as a witness to those IR responses?

1283

MR. LIMBRICK:
I do.

1284

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you, sir.

1285

Finally, Mr. Kula, yourself, your CV has been marked as Exhibit I.1.7. At the present time, you are the day‑ahead project market manager for the IESO.

1286

MR. KULA:
That's correct.

1287

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And you've held that position since 2003.

1288

MR. KULA:
That's correct.

1289

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And from your bio, it indicates that as project manager you report directly to the steering committee that Mr. Limbrick just described.

1290

MR. KULA:
That's correct.

1291

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
You've been with the IMO since 1999, and prior to that you worked with Ontario Hydro for a long number of years; correct?

1292

MR. KULA:
That is correct.

1293

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Page 2 of your CV goes into some detail as to the work in the day‑ahead market project in which you have been involved and for which you have responsibility.

1294

MR. KULA:
That's correct.

1295

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And I take it some of that work also includes being involved with stakeholders in the development of the day‑ahead market project; correct?

1296

MR. KULA:
That's also correct.

1297

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, were you involved in any way in the preparation of the business plan that has been filed as the prefiled evidence in this hearing?

1298

MR. KULA:
No, I was not.

1299

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
But you were involved in the preparation of some of the interrogatory responses?

1300

MR. KULA:
That is correct.

1301

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And to the extent you are identified in an IR response, you adopt that evidence as your own, sir?

1302

MR. KULA:
Yes, I do.

1303

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Chair, I do have some examination‑in‑chief of these witnesses. With your leave, I'll begin it now.

1304

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

1305

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Limbrick ‑‑ and just to set it up, panel, I'd like to ask you essentially two sets of questions. I'm going to ask you a set of questions on the market evolution program, and the second set of questions I'm going to ask you is on the threshold issue, or spending threshold in relation to the market evolution program.

1306

If I could start first with the program itself and I'll start with you, Mr. Limbrick. Could you please describe in 25 words or less, what is the market evolution program?

1307

MR. LIMBRICK:
It's simply the collection of projects which, of themselves, are directed to evolving the market, to introduce new function to the market or also to substantially replace an existing function in the market.

1308

We wanted to pull those together in a single framework for governance and control purposes and a number of other reasons, primarily because these projects had the potential to interact functionally. They could have had dependence on each other from a "when they were developed" point of view, a temporal dependency, if you will.

1309

We wanted to provide stakeholders with a one‑stop shop, and, like most organizations, not all of our employees are the sort of them that have the flexibility, the creativity to put on these programs. We have a limited number of people that can do that.

1310

So by running this as a program, we were able to best leverage those resources, by bringing them together and making sure the resource‑loading is sufficient.

1311

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
When did the market evolution program start within the IESO?

1312

MR. LIMBRICK:
It was conceived, I think, in the fall of 2002, when we initiated phase 1, the general feasibility phase.

1313

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And since that time, could you please describe to the Board what initiatives, or specific projects, the IESO has undertaken under this rubric of the market evolution program?

1314

MR. LIMBRICK:
We started off with seven initiatives. There were short‑term resource adequacy, long‑term resource adequacy, day‑ahead market, market interval optimization, environmental tracking, wholesale resale synergies, and location of marginal pricing. They were the original seven.

1315

And then, this year, we've added something called pricing issues, market pricing issues. That was a team that was being run over a period of time somewhat separately, and for the same reasons of governance and control, we've brought that under the same umbrella.

1316

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
The application that is before this Board is in respect of 2005 revenue requirements, expenditures and fees. In terms of the market evolution program work that the IESO is planning to undertake this year, could you describe the particular projects in respect of which you're seeking Board approval for the revenue requirements and expenditures.

1317

MR. LIMBRICK:
Yes. There are only three projects that appear in the revised filing, and that's DAM, RAM, and market‑pricing issues work.

1318

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And in terms of each of those three projects, could you please inform the Board the amount of revenue requirement for which you're seeking approval, or the amount of capital expenditures for which you're seeking approval?

1319

MR. LIMBRICK:
The total revenue costs for those initiatives are 3.2 million and the capital cost is 0.2 million. The lion's share falls to DAM at 2.4 million; RAM at half a million, and that half is split between 300,000, in terms of expense, and 200,000, in terms of capital. The market pricing has 300,000, and overall program management 200,000.

1320

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I'd like to deal with each one of the initiatives that you just described.

1321

But, Mr. Murphy, I'm going to turn to you to start with the day‑ahead market. Could you please explain the importance of the day‑ahead market initiative, and, I guess specifically, what problems does the day‑ahead market seek to address?

1322

MR. MURPHY:
The day‑ahead market is important because it's trying to address both reliability and pricing issues that are associated with the real‑time market. It's a large initiative, it will take some time to implement, and it's important that we continue to work on it now.

1323

There are really four key operational and reliability issues that the day‑ahead market needs to address.

1324

The first of these is the need to coordinate electricity and gas markets. This will become increasingly important as Ontario increases the proportion of gas‑fired generation that we have in the province.

1325

The gas markets tend to trade ‑‑ make their trading arrangements a day ahead. Our market is a real‑time market, and the scheduling arrangements are made day at hand. And in order to be able to ensure that the gas will be there to be able to run the generators on the day at hand, we need to coordinate these markets and bring them into alignment.

1326

The second issue that the day‑ahead market needs to address is the need to align our market, Ontario, with the markets around us. Virtually, all of the markets around us ‑ in New England, New York, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland and, later this week, the Midwest market, which is a very large market just immediately to our west ‑ all of these markets operate day‑ahead markets. They manage their trading arrangements and their transmission reservation arrangements on a day‑ahead basis. The Ontario market currently has no capability to do this, and unless we align our trading commitments with these neighbouring jurisdictions, there is a risk that imported power may not be available when we need it on the day at hand.

1327

Third, one of the frustrations that our customers have had, right since the start of the market, is their inability to react to the very short‑term prices that are produced in our real‑time market. There are very few customers that can actually respond very effectively to those short‑term prices. Certainly, prices a day ahead will allow more customers to be able to adjust their consumption in order to respond to the prices that are established in the day ahead.

1328

Finally, there's a need to provide certainty to generators that, if they're going to be called upon to start, in order to be able to assure next day's reliability, that they'll be adequately compensated for that. Committing generators for next‑day's operation would align Ontario with the norm practice within the industry, and it would provide greater certainty that sufficient generators were going to be on‑line, in order to adequately meet tomorrow's load.

1329

So, in summary, the four key things that the day‑ahead market mechanism needs to address is coordination of gas and electricity markets, alignment of Ontario with our neighbours, customer response to price, and, finally, generator start‑up certainty.

1330

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, Bill 100 came into force on January the 1st of this year. And, from your perspective, have the changes to the electricity market that have been enacted by Bill 100 altered the need to address any of the four issues that you just described for the Board?

1331

MR. MURPHY:
No, or at least no for most of them. Bill 100 doesn't coordinate gas and electricity service, it doesn't bring Ontario's market in alignment with the neighbors, and it doesn't commit generators to start.

1332

The increased price certainty introduced through regulated rates has removed some of the importance of the spot market prices, but this will change, again, when the revenue cap on the non‑regulated assets is removed in 2006.

1333

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, Mr. Limbrick, I'd like to ask you a few questions about the dollars and cents associated with the DAM project. The IESO's evidence, including the updated evidence, indicates that, in 2003 and 2004, $5.7 million has been spent by the IESO on the development of the day‑ahead market project. I think, by anyone's standards, that's a fair amount of money. Could you explain what work has been done for that money?

1334

MR. LIMBRICK:
It is a fair amount of money, but the market evolution program is not a program or project of equals. The day‑ahead market stands head and shoulders above everything else, in terms of complexity and impact.

1335

When we started the day‑ahead market, it was our intent that that would become the market in Ontario for transacting energy. The real‑time market would continue, but it would be relegated in role to a balancing market

1336

So the magnitude of the DAM actually compares more to the sort of effort we made in bringing the market live than it does to enhancements thereafter. I was going to say, I think the figures speak for themselves, if you've been through the various materials. And at 5.7 million, that represents 50 percent that's been spent to date, in terms of the work.

1337

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
In terms of specific activities, can you give the Board a feel for ‑‑

1338

MR. LIMBRICK:
In terms of specific activities, we started off by developing, in conjunction with stakeholders, a set of objectives which DAM would have to meet if it was to be gauged successful, following its implementation.

1339

We looked at a number of different DAM alternatives, some existent, some theoretical. We did some analysis around location of marginal pricing to investigate its suitability as a basis for the DAM. And we developed a high level of ‑‑ sorry, a high‑level design which supported the development of a business case, which was delivered to our board, a provisional business case, in June of 2004.

1340

We then went on to develop a detailed design. We prepared some draft market rules, we issued a request for information to a number of systems vendors, and we prepared the majority of the user requirements. And that activity took us to the end of 2004.

1341

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Perhaps, before I get into 2005, Mr. Kula, I could ask you: You've heard the activities that Mr. Limbrick has described with respect to the day‑ahead market initiative. To what extent were stakeholders involved in the development of the day‑ahead market project?

1342

MR. KULA:
Stakeholders were extensively involved in the development of the day‑ahead market project. The primary vehicle for that was a day‑ahead market working group, which was established at the beginning of the project, in February of 2003. And since that time, that group has met more than 50 times, to consider things such as objectives and alternatives and design.

1343

We augmented that through a number of other vehicles. For example, there were regular appearances at the Market Advisory Council meetings. There were appearances at the market operations standing committee meetings. We had extensive web postings that we invited stakeholders to review and respond to. We also had technical conferences, and we also had a number of training forces developed, to inform with regard to different aspects of the project.

1344

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I understand one of the upshots of that process was the preparation of a day‑ahead market straw man, and I believe that's been filed as part of the IR responses by the IESO?

1345

MR. KULA:
That is correct.

1346

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Limbrick, back on the issue of costs, back in early January, I wrote a letter to the Board on behalf of the IESO advising that the IESO board, back last December, directed management to update its review and do alternative designs for the DAM. And, as a result, we advised the Board, or at least I advised the Board, that the IESO would not be making the request for the large amount of capital expenditures that had been in the initial application.

1347

In light of the direction from the IESO board in December of 2004, what work in 2005 is the IESO planning to undertake in respect of the DAM project?

1348

MR. LIMBRICK:
Originally, as I mentioned, there were a number of objectives established for the DAM. There were seven of these. One was associated with reliability, and the other six objectives were specifically there at the request of stakeholders.

1349

There's no point in us moving forward with this set of objectives. If we did and evaluated alternatives, we'd come up with the same answer that we did last time.

1350

What we're hearing from stakeholders is that the objectives they put forward are no longer relevant or no longer relevant in the same way now, post Bill 100, as they were before.

1351

So what we need to do is, first of all, re‑establish those objectives. Once we've done that, we'll start to look at alternatives for satisfying that reduced set of objectives, come up with high‑level designs for those, cost them and develop a recommendation on the way forward. All of that will be done, obviously, in conjunction with stakeholder community.

1352

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Does management have a time line in mind over which those steps will be undertaken in 2005?

1353

MR. LIMBRICK:
Yes, we expect to have a recommendation ready by the beginning of October.

1354

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
What are the costs that are going to be associated with that work in 2005?

1355

MR. LIMBRICK:
As I mentioned, we've got 2.4 million in against DAM work for 2005; 0.2 million of that is in respect of cleaning up the phase up until Christmas. That's putting the documentation we were producing to bed in a tidy fashion. And the remainder relates to the work to look at these alternatives.

1356

That work involves, as I've said, looking at objectives, looking at alternatives, coming up with some design, making a recommendation in a business case, stakeholdering associated with that, as well as collating the costs we've got back from vendors in respect of the original design. We wanted to finish that as well.

1357

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I guess one question that arises, since you've already spent in 2003 and 2004 in excess of $5 million in developing the day‑ahead market, is it possible in your view that you can do the work that your board of directors has asked you, that is, to revisit the alternatives in 2005? Can you do that work for less than the $2.4 million that you budgeted for this year?

1358

MR. LIMBRICK:
It seems unlikely at this stage. We're looking at less alternatives this time than we did last time, but we're looking at them in a greater level of detail.

1359

One of the things that a couple of the board members stressed to us when giving us this direction was they wanted us to develop these alternatives and the cost and benefits to a comparable level of detail in terms of confidence as to the alternative that had already been developed. If we're to do that in a serious way, we think we've estimated the work appropriately.

1360

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Just so we're clear, this $2.4 million, this is all OM&A, or is there any capital expenditure associated with that?

1361

MR. LIMBRICK:
It's entire OM&A.

1362

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
I'm going to ask you a similar question I sort of asked of Mr. Murphy and that is: Bill 100 came into effect January 1st. In light of Bill 100, why is the IESO proposing to do any work on the DAM in 2005? Would it be more prudent to wait to see sort of where the dust settles before conducting any further work on DAM?

1363

MR. LIMBRICK:
It's to do with the lead time of introducing a DAM or a DAM substitute. It's just going to take us a period of time. Going back to the reasons Mr. Murphy mentioned earlier, we may not have that time. We've got to get to work and start to put a solution in place now if we're going to deal with the issues that he mentioned.

1364

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
If I could turn from the day‑ahead market to the second element of the market evolution program for 2005, and that is the resource adequacy market.

1365

Again, back to you, Mr. Murphy. Could you explain briefly what the RAM initiative is, what problems it is designed to address.

1366

MR. MURPHY:
The resource adequacy market is a market‑based capacity procurement mechanism that is intended to ensure that there'll be adequate resources available to meet future demands. The issue it addresses primarily is that the spot market prices, whether real‑time spot market prices or day‑ahead spot market prices, are not expected to be sufficient in and of themselves to attract the investment in generation or demand response that's required to meet future needs.

1367

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And in terms these resource adequacy problems and the need for a solution to them, has Bill 100 changed the picture in terms of a need for a solution to those problems?

1368

MR. MURPHY:
Bill 100 has created the Ontario Power Authority which has the authority to procure adequate electricity supplies to meet future demands. A resource adequacy market is one mechanism that can be used to meet that.

1369

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Mr. Limbrick, in terms of the numbers associated with the resource adequacy market, the prefiled evidence indicates that in 2004, $400,000 was spent on the development of the RAM. What work was done for that money?

1370

MR. LIMBRICK:
In 2004, we carried on with the work we were doing on the high‑level design of the RAM and completed that. We followed that by developing a provisional business case, which went to the board. We then developed a detailed design for the RAM and also drafted a set of market rules that was aligned with that detailed design.

1371

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
And are those high‑level market rules or sort of more detailed draft market rules?

1372

MR. LIMBRICK:
They're draft market rules at this stage.

1373

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, to what extent, Mr. Limbrick, have stakeholders been involved in the development activities for RAM that you just described?

1374

MR. LIMBRICK:
I think fairly extensively. They were involved all the way from 2001 when there was indications of interest from the stakeholder community in a capacity market. And during this project itself, there have been over ‑‑ no, I think 30 meetings of the working group on the RAM. And all of their products, minutes and deliverables are listed on the web site and available to anyone.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
You just mentioned the working group and Mr. Kula had mentioned a working group for the day‑ahead market. Where do working groups fit into the overall stakeholder matrix that the IESO uses?

1376

MR. LIMBRICK:
They're at the surface within the MEP projects. They're the guys that get together and do the work and pour over the deliverables and argue about the details of the design.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
In terms of this year, Mr. Limbrick, 2005, what work is the IESO doing or proposing to do on RAM and what are the budgeted costs for that work?
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MR. LIMBRICK:
We have 60,000 of OM&A allocated to completion of the draft ‑‑ the draft market rules, not the technical panel ready rules, and updating the design documentation with feedback from the stakeholdering of the high‑level design which closed earlier this month.
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We've also left some money in that 60,000 for any discussions with the OPA prior to a decision whether RAM should be taken forward or not.
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We then have an allowance of a further 400,000 ‑ and that's 200 expense, 200 capital ‑ for implementation. Should it be agreed with the OPA, there's a value in going ahead and implementing RAM.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
So is it the IESO's intention to spend any of that $400,000 before engaging in discussions with OPA about the value of proceeding with RAM?

1382

MR. LIMBRICK:
Absolutely not.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
If I could deal with the third element of the 2005 market evolution program, Mr. Limbrick, that you had described, that is, the market pricing initiatives. Could you briefly describe for the Board what's involved in this aspect of the market evolution program in 2005?
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MR. LIMBRICK:
Yes, this is pretty much a pure stakeholdering group. It's been going through a number of issues which we could describe more tactical in the main elements of the market evolution program, mainly identified by stakeholders, some from IESO, but mainly from stakeholders, and trying to group those issues where there are some synergies and prioritize the groups.

1385

Having done that, there will be decisions about actually implementing and what items will be implemented around sequence, and so on.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, I think the evidence that the IESO has filed as updated evidence allocates a budget of $300,000 for work on these market‑pricing initiatives. Does any of that $300,000 include the implementation costs associated with implementing solutions to any of those problems?
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MR. LIMBRICK:
No, it does not. The pricing issues group is somewhat of the odd child in the MEP. All the other initiatives have to do with delivery in their own right. The market issues group identifies items for delivery which will then be either delivered as changes through our ordinary OM&A budget, or if they identify something really substantial, that will become an initiative under the MEP.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
The reporter is far too nice. Normally, you get the evil eye. Thank you for that, Mr. Limbrick. And I thank you for that overview of the market evolution program.

1389

If I could turn to the second area of questioning that I indicated I wanted to touch upon, and Mr. Campbell, I'm going to start with you. This is the spending threshold for market evolution projects.

1390

As you know from the Issues List, issue 9.1 asks whether this Board should recommend that the IESO not make expenditures beyond a threshold amount on market evolution programs, pending completion of the market rule amendment process.

1391

In respect of issue 9.1, could you tell me, what is the IESO's view as to the right process to ensure effective oversight by the OEB of market evolution program initiatives, and the spending associated with those initiatives?

1392

MR. CAMPBELL:
We've been thinking about this issue through Issues Day and the settlement conference, and have developed a proposal that was distributed to the Board and to interveners ‑ I think it was on Friday, March 18th, by yourself, Mr. Brown ‑ outlining the proposal. And there are three elements to that proposal.

1393

The first element is that, in the normal course, the IESO would propose MEP initiatives in its business planning cycle, and would seek OEB approval in its annual section 19 review. Now, what that means is that we will request specific approval in our annual application to spend up to the budgeted amounts for each MEP initiative, and these amounts will be included in our proposed revenue requirement and expenditures.

1394

In addition, what we'll do is identify a threshold over budgeted expenditures for each MEP project. Now, the way we would deal with that is we would not exceed the total of the approved revenue requirement and expenditures, plus the threshold amount for each MEP initiative, without returning to the OEB for approval.
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So, under this approach, we treat each MEP project separately, really, in contrast to our former approach of approaching this group of projects as a program with funding covering all of the proposed work.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, if I could just interrupt you there for a second to clarify what you've just said. Let's take an example: For next year's fees case, there's a market evolution program initiative, and you're requesting $2 million. You budget $2 million OM&A and capital expenditures for that project. You include that in your application.

1397

Where does this threshold fit in? Could you describe how the threshold would work? Is this part of the revenue requirement and expenditures for which you would be asking approval? Or would it be something in addition?

1398

MR. CAMPBELL:
It's an amount over and above what we are asking approval of, in effect a notional amount. If we came to you and asked for approval for $2 million worth of revenue requirement and expenditures on a particular MEP project, we would say, That's the approval we're requesting. That's what would show up in the rate calculation.

1399

We would then say, All right, in connection with this particular project, we're asking you to set a threshold amount of ‑ let's pick a number ‑ $200,000, such that, if we came to some point in the year where we thought the total spending that would take place before the next approval would exceed the sum of the 200,000 that's already in the rate, and this additional 200,000, then, when we got to that realization, we would come back to you and explain the circumstances and make a recommendation as to ‑‑ and seek an approval for going forward from that point.
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So, again, the distinction is that, under section 19 approvals, the amount that would be included in the revenue requirement and expenditures would be the budgeted amount in the business plan. The threshold amount is a notional amount on top of that. And it's the sum of those two. If we felt the total spending would exceed that sum, that would drive us to come back to you. And we would do that, as I say, when we anticipated that that might happen.

1401

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, I interrupted you when you were at the end of your first point, in terms of this proposal. I think you said there were three points. Could you explain what the other two are.

1402

MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes. Given that the first point has to do with the normal business planning and rate approval, fee approval, expenditure approval process, the question arises, What happens if something comes up mid‑year? And we would expect that to be exceptional, the exception to the normal practice. Our goal would be to identify all of the work in the business plan, but we have to allow for the possibility that something may arise, either legislative, regulatory, reliability ‑‑ for whatever reason, something exceptional arose in mid‑year.
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And if that ‑‑ if, in that case, an MEP initiative has not been identified in the business planning cycle, and is not part, therefore, of the section 19 approval, what we would do is apply to the OEB for approval if we had ‑‑ if, when we looked at that exceptional project, we contemplated that we might have to spend more than $1 million on that new MEP initiative, before the next fees application, and before that application was treated through the process in the normal course.

1404

So, again, these are in exceptional cases, and what we're saying there is, if it looked to us, going in, that we thought we would be over a $1 million threshold for those exceptional cases, we would come to you first.

1405

And finally, the third element of the proposal is that we would report back to the OEB as part of the next annual section 19 review, and we would report back not only on those where we had ‑‑ well, I guess, the simplest way to put it is we would report back on all MEP expenditures, whether they were in the section 19 review from the previous year. We'd give you an update on that, and we would include in that reporting any other MEP initiatives. Had there been one where we came to you and said it was going to be over 1 million, we'd give you an update and then incorporate that into our section 19 application. And more ‑‑ just as importantly, if we initiated an MEP initiative that was due to cost under $1 million, we would report on that, as well.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, Mr. Campbell, could you explain why the IESO regards this as a reasonable proposal for the Board to consider?
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MR. CAMPBELL:
I think there's several reasons we think it's reasonable. I think it's an appropriate balance between the various concerns that were raised throughout the course of this discussion, both in terms of the OEB itself, stakeholders and the concerns that we had in considering those proposals.
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The second reason we think it's reasonable is that it really strikes a balance between the IESO's discretion ‑‑ our discretion to manage our business, consistent with normal regulatory practice, and OEB oversight.
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The third reason that we think it's appropriate is that it does provide a rigorous regulatory structure for these ‑‑ in these circumstances, at reasonable regulatory cost.

1410

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, when one looks at issue 9.1, as framed on the Issues List, the question posed is in respect of a spending threshold that is related to the completion of market rules by the IESO
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The proposal that you put forward, or that IESO has put forward, Mr. Campbell, doesn't seem to contain that linkage. It's approaching things slightly differently. Could you explain for the Board the relationship between amounts spent by the IESO on market evolution program initiatives and market rule development. How do the two interact?
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MR. CAMPBELL:
I think the starting point is that there is no necessary relationship between MEP expenditure amounts and market rule development. In some cases, there can be significant expenditures on design and development before market rule writing even commences.
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In other cases, the bulk of the expenditures will be for implementation after the rules have been developed. Our proposal has tried to focus on proposed MEP spending, which has seemed to be the key control issue that was being discussed in the course of the earlier discussions in these proceedings.
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So it's focussed on the proposed MEP spending, not on the timing of the publication of market rules. We've attempted to address the underlying issue.

1415

MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
In terms of the annual section 19 applications that the IESO is required by the Electricity Act to make to the OEB, how do you see this MEP spending review process working within the context of those section 19 applications?

1416

MR. CAMPBELL:
Well, again, MEP expenditures would normally receive advance OEB approval through the section 19 process. Our goal in making recommendations to our board as a management team for the business plan and our goal in coming to this process each year will be to lay out fully the proposed expenditures.
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It's only really on an exception basis for projects that arise during the year and where spending would exceed the $1 million threshold that the ISO would apply for review outside the section 19 process. And, as I say, in addition, intra‑year expenditures below the $1 million amount would be separately identified for review in the next section 19 proceeding.
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So the way we see this process is that it will complement the existing process for OEB review of IESO expenditures and revenue, and it will allow the OEB to maintain prudent cost oversight of MEP expenditures that have not been subject to section 19 review.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Now, in terms of this $1 million threshold for intra‑year market evolution program initiatives, what's the rationale for the $1 million? Is there any magic in that number?

1420

MR. CAMPBELL:
No, there is no magic in that number. What it represents is IESO management's best view of a reasonable number to address the kind of exceptional circumstances that I've been talking about.
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It's not so low as to preclude our responsibility to respond to legislative, regulatory or reliability issues, and it's not so high as to undermine meaningful OEB oversight. And that was what we balanced in arriving at the $1 million number.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
My final question, Mr. Campbell, is to come back to this concept of a ‑‑ you called it a notional threshold for MEP projects that the ISO brings forward in a section 19 application. We've heard from Mr. Limbrick that this year there are three such initiatives; there's the DAM and the RAM and the market pricing.
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Has the IESO formed any view as to these notional thresholds that it thinks appropriate for the OEB to set above the revenue requirements and expenditures that you're formally asking approval for?
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MR. CAMPBELL:
Yes, we have, but before I turn to that, let me try and dissuade myself from using this term "notional." This is going to be a very real ‑‑ a very real threshold for IMO management. It won't be included in the revenue we collect, but the amount presents a very real consideration for us in determining ‑‑ in making that determination on whether we should come back to you.
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So dealing with the three MEP projects that are currently before you as part of this application, we would request the following MEP project threshold amounts to be established by this Panel.
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With respect to the day‑ahead market, where the budget is 2.4 million, we are requesting a threshold amount of $200,000. With respect to the resource adequacy market, where the budgeted amount is 500,000, which is a rounded number of the sum of the 60 and the 200 and the 200 ‑ just so that I straighten up any confusion around that right now ‑ with respect to that budget, we're requesting a threshold amount of 100,000. And with respect to market pricing issues, that is, the examination of those issues as Mr. Limbrick described them, we're requesting a threshold amount of $100,000.
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What this means is that if we expect to exceed the amount of funding outlined by Mr. Limbrick for any of these initiatives by more than these threshold amounts, we would file an application for approval with the OEB. And using an example, in this application, we're asking the OEB to approve 2.4 million for DAM project costs with an associated threshold amount of $200,000.
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So if we hit a point in the year where we anticipated the DAM spending would exceed $2.6 million, being the sum of the 2.4 and the 200,000, if we anticipate that spending would exceed 2.6 million, we would come back to the OEB, report on what is happening and ask for approval to spend beyond the $2.6 million, if that was ‑‑ if that was required.
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That's how we see this working.
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MR. DAVID M. BROWN:
Thank you, Mr. Campbell.

1431

Mr. Chair, that concludes my examination‑in‑chief.

1432

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Brown.

1433

We will start 9:30 in the morning.

1434

‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:30 p.m.

